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STATEMENT OF
MANAGEMENT’S 
RESPONSIBILITIES
The Management Board hereby confirms that the Annual Report of Triglav Re, d.d. with all its 
integral parts is written in accordance with the Companies Act and the International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards. 
The Management is responsible for preparing the annual report so that it gives a true and 
fair view of the Company’s financial position and its operating results for the year ended 31 
December 2017.

The Management Board also confirms that the appropriate accounting policies have been 
consistently applied and that the accounting estimates have been prepared with due care and 
diligence. Furthermore, the Management Board affirms that the financial statements together 
with related notes have been prepared on the basis of the assumption on further operating 
activities of the Company and in accordance with the applicable law and International Ac-
counting Standards.

The Management is also responsible for keeping proper and adequate accounting, for taking 
reasonable asset protection measures and the measures for prevention and detection of fraud 
and irregularities.

The tax authorities may at any time within five (5) years from the date on which the tax was 
charged, check the Company’s operations, which may result in additional tax liabilities, inter-
est on arrears, penalties from the corporate income tax or other taxes and duties. The Man-
agement Board further states that they are not aware of any circumstances which may give 
rise to any potential material liability in this respect.

Ljubljana, 20 March 2018





OPERATING 
PERFORMANCE
AND EVENTS IN 2017



TRIGLAV RE / Business Report 2017 8

1.1 Financial highlights of Triglav Re, d.d.

 in EUR

YEAR 2017 YEAR 2016 INDEX

Gross reinsurance premium written 123,713,912 117,417,689 105

Gross claims paid 56,764,142 54,273,094 105

Gross operating expenses* 3,329,916 3,242,172 103

Return on investment 3,607,712 5,849,315 62

Technical provisions 163,462,462 141,588,235 115

Equity 82,693,155 75,557,215 109

Return on Equity 7.7% 8.3% /

Net profit 6,347,139 6,509,356 98

Number of employees at the year-end 46 46 100

*Gross operating expenses by functional groups

 

1.2 Significant events in 2017
 
APRIL
In April 2017, after the prior approval of the members of the Supervisory Board of Triglav Re, 
d.d, the term of office of the President of the Management Board, Gregor Stražar (MBA), was 
extended for one further five-year term.

MAY
In accordance with the regulatory reporting requirements of the Solvency II, the Company for 
the first time published the Report on the solvency and financial position of the Company for 
2016.

JUNE
On 23 June 2017, within the framework of the amended dividend policy, the Company paid 
out EUR 4,557 million of dividends for the business year 2016 to its owner Zavarovalnica Tri-
glav d.d.

1. OPERATING 
PERFORMANCE
AND EVENTS IN 2017
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AUGUST
In August 2017, a four-year term of office was extended to Sebastjan Debevc, a representative 
of the employees in the Supervisory Board of Triglav Re, d.d.

SEPTEMBER
On 8 September 2017, the rating agency Standard and Poor’s (the S&P) reaffirmed the long-
term credit rating and the financial strength rating “A” to the Triglav Group, and thus to the 
parent company Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d. and its subsidiary Triglav Re, d.d.. The credit rat-
ings have a stable medium-term outlook.

NOVEMBER
At a regular annual review on 2 November 2017, the credit rating agency A.M. Best confirmed 
the credit rating of the financial strength “A” (excellent) and the credit rating of the issuer 
“a” (excellent) to Zavarovalnica Triglav, d. d. and Triglav Re, d. d. The credit ratings for both 
companies have a stable medium-term outlook.

Following the successful performance of the pre-implementation analysis and the negotia-
tions in November 2017, the Company concluded a contract for the implementation of the new 
reinsurance information technology system.

DECEMBER
On 18 December 2017, at the General Meeting of the shareholders of Triglav Re, d.d. the share-
holders elected Andrej Slapar, Tomaž Žust and David Benedek as the members of the Supervi-
sory Board of Triglav Re, d.d. (the shareholder’s representatives) for a four-year term of office.

1.3 Significant events after the end of 2017
 
After the end of 2017, there were no significant events that could affect the Company’s per-
formance.
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1.4 Address by the President of the Management Board

Dear All,

The performance of Pozavarovalnica Triglav Re, d.d. was in 2017 very successful despite the 
historically destructive natural disasters and the extraordinary mass claims resulting from 
those catastrophic events. The net profit of Triglav Re stood at EUR 6.3 million, which is a 
consequence of the favorable insurance technical result and a solid return on the invest-
ments. The combined ratio of 93.8 percent was by 2.9 percentage points better than the pre-
vious year and the overall premium growth of 5.0 percent was recorded. The return on equity 
amounted to 7.7 percent, the capital adequacy remained excellent. We are pleased that both 
credit rating agencies, S&P Global Ratings and A.M. Best, confirmed the »A« credit rating with 
a stable medium-term outlook. 

2017 was a devastating year with the natural disasters such as the tropical hurricanes, the 
multiple wildfires burning across California, two earthquake strikes in Mexico, the wide-
spread monsoon flooding in the South Asia affecting millions across the globe. The global 
insured losses made 2017 the third-most expensive year in the insurance industry and the (re)
insurance companies around the world will have to pay around USD 135 billion, which is well 
above the long-term average and, according to some statistics, even the highest amount in 
the history. Most of the disasters occurred in America:  Hurricane Harvey hit Houston in Texas, 
Hurricane Irma caused a massive damage to the Caribbean and Florida and Hurricane Maria 
hit the Caribbean and Puerto Rico. In addition, two powerful earthquakes struck Mexico in 
two weeks, collapsing buildings, cracking highways and killing hundreds of people. Rather 
extensive loss events occurred also in Slovenia, for instance, the April frost and the summer 
storms that caused a lot of damage in agriculture, and the strong winds in December with 
floods all over Slovenia. But even though the unending string of disasters felt exceptional, we 
can estimate 2017 as an average year, if not a baseline. We must reckon with the likelihood 
of even worse storms, heat waves, fires, and droughts as the Earth warms and the scientists 
expect even this “new normal” to get worse. Our Company was affected by the losses that ex-
ceeded the multiannual average, but we were not surprised by the amount of compensations, 
in particular thanks to the functioning of our risk assessment and management systems fol-
lowing which we are not present with high reinsurance shares in the most risky countries.  
And the proof is our achieved financial results.

The international macroeconomic conditions were favorable in 2017. The forecasts of the 
global economic growth continue to project a gradual rise and the expansion of the eco-
nomic situation in the euro area, where the confidence in the economy remains strong over 
the long-term average. According to the first data of the Statistical Office, the GDP in Slovenia 
in the real terms increased by 5.0 percent in 2017, which is above the euro area average and 
it was the main driver for the growth of exports. As already mentioned, the situation on the 
global reinsurance market was largely affected by the natural disasters occurred in the sec-
ond half of 2017. The renewals for 2018 showed a noticeable rise in the reinsurance premium 
price, particularly in the affected regions and industries. At the end of 2017, we noticed that a 
trend in the premium price is increasing for the first time in the last four years.
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A four-year strategic period of the entire Triglav Group started in 2017. Our key strategic 
orientations are based on the efficient risk selection and on the profitable short-term busi-
ness with the cedants from around the world and ensuring the appropriate dispersion in the 
outward reinsurance in the Triglav Group. We will continue to increase our presence in the 
selected reinsurance markets strictly following the guidelines for making profitable business. 
Additionally, we wish to increase our business in the less developed insurance markets offer-
ing the customized insurance products with a limited coverage for the natural catastrophes 
for the adjusted and lower prices. In the upcoming years, we also see a challenge in a modern 
society, which is becoming increasingly digitized and therefore we are developing the suit-
able insurance products and also started to upgrade our reinsurance IT system in 2017.

I can say with pride that Triglav Re is already recognized on the global reinsurance market as 
a stable and responsive partner and additionally, the achieved results in 2017 prove that we 
can enter the new strategic period with optimism and high ambitions. We will continue to 
provide the profitable operations and I believe that with the professionalism of the employees, 
to whom I want to express my thanks for their commitment, we will together achieve the set 
goals of the Company.

Gregor Stražar (MBA)



REPORT OF
THE SUPERVISORY 
BOARD
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1. Introduction

In 2017, the Supervisory Board actively monitored and supervised the operations of Triglav 
Re, d.d. (hereinafter “the Company”). It regularly examined the reports on the various aspects 
of the Company’s performance, and in this context it adopted the appropriate decisions and 
monitored their implementation. 

The Supervisory Board performed its work within the scope of its powers and competences 
prescribed by the statutory provision, the Company’s Articles of Association and the Rules of 
Procedure of the Supervisory Board. It also took into consideration the Guidelines of the cor-
porate governance of Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d., as the parent company of the Triglav Group.

Pursuant to the provision of Article 282 of the Companies Act, the Supervisory Board verified 
the Company’s Annual Report for 2017 and presented its views in the Report on the Verification 
of the Annual Report of Triglav Re, d.d. The Supervisory Board also reviewed and adopted the 
Company’s Annual report on the internal audit.

2. General information 

In 2017, the Supervisory Board was composed of the following members: 

 the shareholder’s representatives:
  Andrej Slapar (Chairman), 
  David Benedek (Deputy Chairman), appointed  on 21 December 2017,
  Tomaž Žust 

 the employees’ representative:
  Sebastjan Debevc. 

2. REPORT OF THE 
SUPERVISORY 
BOARD
Report of the Supervisory Board on the Verification 
of the Annual Report of Triglav Re, d.d. for 2017
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In 2017, the Supervisory Board held eight sessions. The Audit Committee was created within 
the Supervisory Board to make recommendations to the Supervisory Board with respect to 
the audit issues. 

3. Operations of the Supervisory Board and the scope of verifi-
cation of the Company’s governance in 2017

The description of the Supervisory Board’s operations and the scope of monitoring and veri-
fication of the Company’s governance in 2017 are based on the supervision of the Company’s 
operations performed by the Supervisory Board in accordance with its respective compe-
tences. The Supervisory Board’s responsibility is to supervise how the Company conducts its 
business operations, and to perform other duties according to the Companies Act, the Insur-
ance Act, the Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board.

With regard to its core competences, the Supervisory Board in 2017:
	 gave its consent to the Business plan of Triglav Re, d.d. for 2018; 
 adopted the audited Annual Report of Triglav Re, d.d. for 2016 and was briefed on the 

Independent Auditor’s Report;
 adopted the Report of the Supervisory Board of Triglav Re, d.d. on the verification of the 

Annual report of Triglav Re, d.d. for 2016;
 gave a proposal on the distribution of the net profit and gave discharge to the Com-

pany’s Management Board for 2016;
 was briefed on the Management report of Triglav Re, d.d. for the period 1 January  2016 

to 31 December 2016 and also on the quarterly management reports  for  2017;
 gave its consent to the Solvency and Financial Condition Report for 2016 and was 

briefed on the Independent Auditor’s Opinion;
 was briefed on the Auditor’s Report on the relations with the related companies and on 

the Auditor’s Opinion on the Report on the relations with the related companies as at 31 
December 2017;

 was briefed on the Auditor’s report as at 31 December 2016;
 was briefed on the regular periodic reports on the Company’s risk profile and gave its 

consent to the Risk Appetite Statement for 2017;
 was briefed on the Own Risk and Solvency Assessment Report of Triglav Re, d.d. for the 

year 2017;
 was briefed on the Annual report on the internal audit in 2016 and also on the half-

yearly reports on the internal auditing;
 gave its opinion to the Annual report on the internal auditing for the year 2016;
 gave its consent to the Annual plan of the internal audit of Triglav Re, d.d for the year 

2017 (and to the Company’s performance guidelines for the period 2018-2019);
 gave its consent to the key acts and amendments to the acts relating to the Company’s 

management;
 monitored the overhaul of the IT reinsurance project.
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3.1. Audit Committee
 
The members of the Audit Committee in 2017 were: Tomaž Žust (Chairman), Sebastjan De-
bevc and Mojca Lahajner as an independent external expert. In 2017, the Committee held six 
meetings.

The duties and competences of the Audit Committee are determined in the Companies Act, 
the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board, the Rules of Procedure of the Audit Commit-
tee and the adopted decisions by the Supervisory Board. Among others, the Audit Committee: 

 monitored the financial reporting procedures;
 monitored the functioning and efficiency of the Company’s internal controls, of the in-

ternal audit and of the risk management systems;
 monitored the statutory audits of the annual and consolidated financial statements;
 monitored and reviewed the auditor’s independence, in particular within the framework 

of the non-auditing control and consulting services;
 proposed the appointment of an auditor for the company’s annual report to the Supervi-

sory Board;
 monitored and controlled the integrity of financial information provided by the Company;
 assessed the preparation of the annual report, including  a formation of the proposal for 

the Supervisory Board;
 participated in determining the most important scopes of auditing;
 reported on its activities at the Supervisory Board meetings.

The Audit Committee conducted a self-assessment of its performed procedures in terms of 
providing a continuous improvement and quality of its performance. 

3.2. Performance of Self-Assessment

The Supervisory Board has established the Audit Committee in accordance with the Com-
panies Act. The Chairman of the Audit Committee has regularly reported on the performed 
activities at the Supervisory Board meetings, where the adopted decisions, the submitted 
recommendations and opinions were discussed. Based on the diligent assessment, the Super-
visory Board adopted the relevant decisions.

All the members of the Supervisory Board should be actively involved in its performance. 
They contribute to the effective performance of the Board’s duties by their presence in the 
meetings, and the active participation in discussions and in decision-making. The Supervi-
sory Board’s Rules of Procedure also include the rules regulating the procedures in case of a 
potential conflict of interest. Within the scope of its duties, the Supervisory Board also ad-
opted the Rules on managing the conflicts of interest relating to the Supervisory Board and 
its members. 

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that the cooperation with the Management Board 
was appropriate and in line with the applicable legislation and good practice; and that it was 
informed on all events of the material significance for the assessment of a situation and its 
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consequences, and also to the supervision of the Company’s performance. The Supervisory 
Board regularly monitored the implementation of its own decisions and the decisions of the 
Audit Committee. In 2018, the Supervisory Board also performed a self-assessment of its du-
ties. 

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that its composition in 2017 was proportionate to the 
Company’s size, its business activities and the set objectives, as well as appropriate with re-
gard to the independence or dependence of its members within the meaning of the Corporate 
Governance Code. 

Based on the above, the Supervisory Board is of the opinion that its performance and the per-
formance of the Audit Committee in 2017 were successful.

4. Annual Report of Triglav Re, d.d.

The Supervisory Board verified all the legal aspects relating to the Company’s annual report 
for the year 2017.

The Supervisory Board confirmed that the Annual Report for 2017 was prepared within the 
legally prescribed period. Taking into account the statements of the Management Board, of 
the appointed external auditor (Ernst & Young, d.o.o., Ljubljana) and the authorised actuary 
Milan Stjepanović (MSc), the Supervisory Board confirmed that the Annual report covers all 
the parts prescribed by the Companies Act, the Insurance Act and the applicable regulations.

The annual report includes:
 Accounting report: the financial statements which contain the balance sheet, the in-

come statement, the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement) and the 
notes to the financial statements,

 Management report.

The following reports are submitted to the annual report:
 Independent Auditor’s Report,
  Authorized Actuary’s Report as at 31 December 2017.

The Annual Report contains all facts prescribed by the law. 

The Company set up the insurance technical provisions and other provisions from the profit. 
The regularity and sufficiency of the insurance technical provisions was approved by the au-
thorized actuary and the external auditor.

According to the decision of the General Meeting on the appointment of the auditor for the 
financial years 2016, 2017 and 2018 the external auditor, the agency Ernst & Young, d.o.o., Du-
najska 111, Ljubljana, performed the audit of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2017, of the 
income statement, the statement of changes in equity and the cash flow statement for the 
year then ended, and of the summary of the significant accounting policies and the other ex-
planatory notes. On this basis, the Independent Auditor’s Report was issued on 20 March 2018. 
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In accordance with the requirements of the Insurance Act, the authorized actuary Milan 
Stjepanović (MSc) verified the Company’s performance in 2017 and on 20 March 2018, the Au-
thorized Actuary’s Report as at 31 December 2017 was submitted. 

In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, the Management Board submitted 
the Annual Report containing also the Auditor’s Report and the Authorized Actuary’s Report as 
at 31 December 2017 to the Supervisory Board to verify it.

5. Proposal for the distribution of net profit recorded as at 31 
December 2017

From the formal aspect, the Supervisory Board verified the Management Board’s proposal for 
the distribution of the profit recorded as at 31 December 2017.

The Supervisory Board approved the Management Board’s proposal on the distribution of the 
net profit and will submit to the General Meeting the proposal to adopt the decision on the 
profit distribution.

6. Opinion on the Annual report by the Internal Audit Service

At the meeting on 7 March 2018, the Supervisory Board discussed and approved the Annual 
report on the internal audit in 2017 prepared by the internal auditing service on the basis of 
the performed business operations in 2017. The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that the 
Company’s internal auditing service performed its duties in accordance with the Annual plan 
of the internal auditing service for the year 2017, and thus significantly contributed to the 
improved functioning of the internal control system and to a more appropriate risk manage-
ment system of Triglav Re, d.d. 

7. Management Board’s Reporting

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that the reports provided by the Management Board 
enabled the appropriate monitoring and controlling the Company’s governance and perfor-
mance. The cooperation with the Management Board is considered to be adequate and in 
accordance with the law.

8. Independent auditor’s report and Auditor’s Opinion on the Re-
port on relations with related companies as at 31 December 2017

In compliance with the competences under the law and the Articles of Association, the Su-
pervisory Board was informed on the Independent Auditor’s Report whereby the independent 
auditor confirms that the Company’s financial statements for 2017 in all respects present a 
true and fair picture of the financial position of Triglav Re, d.d. and that they are prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards.
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The Supervisory Board was informed on and subsequently verified the Report on the rela-
tions with related companies and the Statement within this Report prepared by the Com-
pany’s Management Board. The Supervisory Board made no comments on the Statement of 
the Management Board. The Supervisory Board was also informed on the Auditor’s Report on 
the Report on the relations with the related companies as at 31 December whereby the auditor 
confirms that the information provided in the Report on the relations with related companies 
is accurate and true in all material respects.

9. Actuarial Report as at 31 December 2017

In compliance with the competences under the law and the Articles of Association, the Su-
pervisory Board was informed on the Report of the authorized actuary whereby he con-
firmed that the level of the premiums written in 2017 and the level of the insurance technical 
provisions as at 31 December 2017 are appropriate and that, within the reasonable actuarial 
expectations, they ensure the Company’s continuous fulfillment of all liabilities arising from 
the reinsurance contracts. Furthermore, he confirmed in his that the assets exceed the level 
of insurance technical provisions and that are invested and dispersed in accordance with the 
regulations, and that the Company met the regulatory requirements on the capital adequacy. 
The authorized actuary presented his opinion on the Company’s performance in 2017 to the 
Supervisory Board.  

10. Comments of the Supervisory Board on the Annual Report 
for 2017

The Supervisory Board has no comments to the Annual Report for 2017 which would retain 
the adoption of the decision to approve the Company’s Annual Report.

11. Approval of the Annual Report for 2017

The Supervisory Board approved the Annual Report for the year 2017 within the prescribed 
period, that is, before the expiry of one month from the submission of the Annual report 2017 
to the Supervisory Board.

            
Ljubljana, 24 April 2018    Andrej Slapar 

                                                                                 Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
                                                                                           of Triglav Re, d.d.
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3.1 Company profile

Company Name: Pozavarovalnica Triglav Re, d.d.

Short name: Triglav Re, d.d.

Legal form: Company limited by shares

Registered office: Miklošičeva 19, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

Website: www.triglavre.si

E-mail address: mail@triglavre.si

Company identification number: 13 62 992

Tax number: 16465423

Entry into the Companies Register: District Court in Ljubljana, Entry No. 1/31/403/00                   
on 31 December 1998

Share capital: EUR 4,950,000.00

President of the Management Board: Gregor Stražar, M.Sc. (Econ)

President of the Supervisory Board: Andrej Slapar

Activity according to the Standard Classification
of Activities:

K65.200 - Reinsurance

Credit rating: Standard & Poor's: A  
A.M. Best: A 

Ownership structure: Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d. (100 %).                              
Triglav Re is an integral part of the Triglav Group.

3.2 Basic data on Triglav Re, d.d.

3.2.1 History of Triglav Re, d.d.

Triglav Re, d.d. was founded in 1998. In the first year of its operations the Company reinsured 
only the portfolio of Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d. and reached a positive operating result. The 
Company thus fulfilled the founders’ expectations and had a significant impact on the risk 
equalization and risk management in the Slovenian market. In 2000, the Company started its 
operations on the international market for the first time. 

3. GENERAL 
INFORMATION 
ON TRIGLAV RE, D.D.
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Taking into account a prudent and conservative policy of the risk assumption, the effective 
risk management system and the recapitalisation in 2001, the Company has become a reliable 
partner in the European reinsurance market, especially in the area of Central Europe. 

The year 2008 marked a turning point in the company’s future performance, since the Stan-
dard & Poor’s Rating Services (the S&P) assigned it an “A -” rating which has a direct impact 
on the growth of business with the Cedants outside the Triglav Group. In 2009 the rating was 
upgraded to “A” with stable outlook, which the Company succeeded to retain in 2011 despite 
the tense market conditions. In 2012, the S&P downgraded the credit rating to “A -” as a con-
sequence of the drop in the credit rating of the Republic of Slovenia. 

In February 2013, the S&P downgraded the Company’s long-term credit rating “A -” by one 
notch to “BBB +”, and removed the warning about a possible downgrade. However, already in 
July 2013, the S&P upgraded the Company by one notch to “A -” with a stable medium-term 
outlook. In 2013, Triglav Re, d.d. was also assessed by the rating agency A. M. Best and so the 
Company obtained the credit rating “A -” with stable medium-term outlook. In 2014 and 2015, 
both rating agencies reaffirmed the rating of “A -”. At the regular annual review in 2016, both 
credit rating agencies the S&P and A.M. Best upgraded the Company’s financial strength rating 
of “A -” to “A”. In 2017, both agencies reaffirmed the Company’s financial strength rating of “A” 
from 2016. In 2017 the Company has concluded approximately 480 reinsurance contracts with 
more than 220 cedants outside the Triglav Group. 

3.2.2 Anticipated development of Triglav Re, d.d. in 2018

Given that a continuation of the favorable economic trends is also expected for 2018 and de-
spite a challenging situation in the reinsurance market over the last few years, the Company 
anticipates a further development and premium growth. One of the Company’s goals in 2018 
is to maintain the current credit rating of “A” as assessed by the S&P and A. M. Best. The as-
signed ratings are essential for the Company, since the credit rating “A” enables the access to 
the reinsurance markets, in which the cooperation with the appropriate level of credit rating 
is required, or due to the requirements of the local insurance market regulator or due to the 
Cedant’s internal rules. 

In accordance with the Company’s business plan for 2018 and the strategic plan for the period 
2017-2020, the Company will, along with the realization of the reinsurance program within 
the Triglav Group, continue to increase the reinsurance operations with the Cedants outside 
the Triglav Group. As in the previous years, the growth will be focused on the conservative 
underwriting policy and a further maintenance of the stable and profit-generating portfolio. 



TRIGLAV RE / Business Report 2017 22

3.3 Triglav Group

The Reinsurance Company Triglav Re, d.d. is a subsidiary of Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d., Lju-
bljana, Miklošičeva 19.

Beside Triglav Re, d.d. and the controlling company Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d., the Triglav 
Group consists of the following companies:
 Triglav, Zdravstvena zavarovalnica, d.d., Koper, Slovenia,
 Skupna pokojninska družba, d.d., Slovenia,
 Triglav INT, d.d., holdinška družba, Ljubljana, Slovenia,
 Triglav Osiguranje, d.d., Zagreb, Croatia,
 Triglav Osiguranje, d.d., Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina,
  Autocentar BH, d.o.o., Bosnia and Herzegovina,
   Unis automobili i dijelovi, d.o.o., Bosnia and Herzegovina,
   Sarajevostan, d.d.,
 Lovćen Osiguranje, a.d., Podgorica, Montenegro,
   Lovćen životna osiguranja, a.d., Podgorica, Montenegro,
   Lovćen auto, a.d., Podgorica, Montenegro,
 Triglav Osiguranje, a.d.o., Beograd, Serbia,
 Triglav Osiguranje, a.d., Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina,
   Triglav Auto, d.o.o.,
 Triglav Osiguruvanje AD, Skopje, Macedonia,
   Triglav Osiguruvanje Život, a.d., Skopje,
 Triglav Skladi, družba za upravljanje, d.o.o., Ljubljana, Slovenia,
   PROF-IN, d.o.o., Sarajevo,
 Salnal, d.d., Ljubljana,
 Triglav Svetovanje, zavarovalno zastopanje, d.o.o., Domžale, Slovenia,
   Triglav Savjetovanje, d.o.o., Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina,
   TRI-LIFE, d.o.o., Zagreb, Croatia,
   Triglav Savetovanje, d.o.o., Beograd, Serbia,
 Triglav Avtoservis, družba za storitve in trgovino, d.o.o., Ljubljana, Slovenia,
 Triglav, Upravljanje nepremičnin d.d., Ljubljana, Slovenia,
   Golf Arboretum, d.o.o.,
   AKM nepremičnine, d.o.o.,
   Triglav upravljanje nekretninama, d.o.o., Zagreb, Croatia,
   Triglav upravljanje nekretninama, d.o.o., Podgorica, Montenegro,
   Hotel Grad Podvin, d.d.,
 Vse bo v redu, Zavod Zavarovalnice Triglav za družbeno odgovorne aktivnosti.

The associated companies of the Triglav Group are the following: Triglavko, d.o.o., Trigal, 
d.o.o., Nama, d.d., IF Prof Plus, d.d. and Društvo za upravljanje Evropskim dobrovoljnim pen-
zijskim fondom, a.d., Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina (European Voluntary Pension Fund 
Management Company, Banja Luka).
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3.4 Shareholders’ equity and the shareholders of Triglav Re, d.d.
 
As of 31 December 2017, the equity of Triglav Re amounted to EUR 82,693,155. The share capi-
tal of EUR 4,950,000 is divided into 15,000 ordinary no-par value registered shares. Each 
share amounting to EUR 330.00 has an equal portion and corresponding amount in the share 
capital. 

Shareholders of Triglav Re as at 31 December 2017
 

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE (in %) NUMBER OF SHARES

Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d. 100.00 15,000

TOTAL 100.00 15,000

3.5 Credit rating of Triglav Re

On 8 September 2017, the rating agency Standard & Poor’s reaffirmed the long-term credit 
rating and financial strength rating of “A”  to the Triglav Group,  and thereby to the control-
ling company Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d. and its subsidiary Triglav Re, d.d.. Both ratings have a 
stable medium-term outlook.

At a regular annual review on 2 November 2017, the credit rating agency A.M. Best recon-
firmed the credit rating of the financial strength “A” (excellent) and the credit rating of the 
issuer “a” (excellent) to Zavarovalnica Triglav, d. d. and Triglav Re, d. d. The ratings of both 
companies have a stable medium-term outlook.
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4.1 Governance Policy

The Governance System and Policy of Triglav Re d.d., are adopted by the Management and 
Supervisory Boards which respect the principles of good and responsible governance, define 
the main guidelines for the Company’s management, while also respecting the set long-term 
strategic objectives and values of the whole Triglav Group. They represent the foundation for 
setting up and implementing a reliable governance system, which is based on the efficient 
risk management system and enables the implementation of the Company’s business strategy.

4.2 Statement of compliance with the Corporate Governance 
Code of the Companies with the state capital investment and 
Commitment to the other Codes

Triglav Re, d.d. is a subsidiary of the controlling company Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d, which is 
a company with the state capital, and thus Triglav Re, d.d. in its day-to-day operations shall 
respect the Corporate Governance Code for State-Owned Enterprises (the Code). The Code is 
available in Slovene and English on the Slovenian Sovereign Holding website (http:// www.
sdh.si).
 
Triglav Re derogates from the Code in the following provisions:

 The composition of the Supervisory Board

The Company derogates from the Code with regard to the ownership structure, the size of 
the company, the number of Supervisory Board members and the Company’s position in the 
Group and it cannot therefore guarantee the international, age and gender diversity in the 
Supervisory Board composition. 

 The Supervisory Board prepares the required skill profile for the Supervisory Board mem-
bers in view of the optimal size and composition of the Supervisory Board and place it on 
the Company’s website. 

4. DECLARATION 
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The Company in this part partially derogates from the Code, as the skill profile for the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board was not placed on the website. Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d. as 
a sole shareholder of Triglav Re, d.d. defines the procedure for appointing the members of 
the Supervisory Board in the Corporate Governance Policy of the Triglav Group. The candi-
dates for the members of the Supervisory Board are proposed by a three-member Nomination 
Committee of the parent company, taking into account the skills of a candidate. The candi-
dates for the members of the Supervisory Board are subject to the conditions specified in the 
Insurance Act, the Companies Act and to the criteria of competence and suitability, as set 
out in the Policy on the ability and suitability evaluation of the members of the Management 
Board and the Supervisory Board of Triglav Re, d.d. 

 The Supervisory Board consists of independent members.

The Company in this part partially derogates from the Code, because the Supervisory Board 
members are either the members of the management bodies or the employees of the parent 
company in order to achieve a better and more efficient management of Triglav Re, d.d. The 
employees’ representative has a contract of employment with the Company.

 The Company discloses the earnings of the members of the Supervisory Board, i.e. of the 
employees’ representatives. 

The Company in this part partially derogates from the Code, as in accordance with the leg-
islation governing the personal data protection does not disclose the earnings from employ-
ment of the Supervisory Board member who is the employee representative. 

In its policies and procedures, the Company is also bound by the Insurance Code, which is 
available on the website of the Slovenian Insurance Association http://www.zav-zdruzenje.si.

The Code of the Triglav Group, which is available on the website http://www.triglav.eu also 
binds the Company since it is a member of the Triglav Group. The Triglav Group Code presents 
the core values   and operating principles for legal and ethical achievement of the business 
objectives, strategic direction and competitive advantages, while respecting the principles 
and standards of a fair and transparent business.

On 25 April 2015, the Management Board of Triglav Re, d.d. adopted a Code of good business 
practices in order to operate continuously and effectively and thus maintaining the highest 
standards of business ethics, both in relation to the employees and the business partners, as 
well as in relation to the shareholders, the members of the general public, private individu-
als, groups of persons, organizations, institutions, corporations and government bodies.

4.2.1 Policy of Diversity

The Policy of diversity has not yet been adopted by the Company.
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5.1 Economic environment1 

The economic situation in the international environment is favourable. Forecasts of the glob-
al economic growth are continuing to gradually raise and the GDP growth is strengthening in 
the euro area, where the economic sentiment remains strongly above its long-term average.

For 2017, the current forecast of global economic growth ranges between 2.7 and 3.6 percent, 
and for 2018 it is between 2.9 and 3.7 percent. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the 
OECD forecast for 2017, with respect to the previous forecast, increased it by 0.1 percentage 
point to 3.6 percent. The European Commission also increased its forecast for 2017 to 3.5 per-
cent. For 2018, the IMF and the European Commission increased the forecast by 0.1 percentage 
point, thus equalizing it with the OECD forecast, which maintained its forecast at 3.7 percent.

The future economic growth is still under the influence of the negative risks that include 
in particular the political risks associated with the future of Catalonia, the unstable situa-
tion in Ukraine, the UK’s vote to leave the European Union and Donald Trump’s victory in the 
US presidential elections. Geopolitical risks continue to increase in the Middle East and the 
Korean Peninsula. Among the external risks arising from the unstable geopolitical conditions 
and from the adjustment of oversupply to demand, the sharp rise in oil prices and subsequent 
crippling fuel prices are having a hugely negative impact on business and industries across 
the EU. Another negative driver for the future economic growth in the EU is the expected re-
appreciation of the euro. Regarding the global financing conditions, however, the main risk is 
the faster stabilization of the FED’s monetary policy and a rise in the interest rates, thereby 
adjusting the capital prices. The improved global economic climate and higher forecasts of 
the global GDP growth in the coming years constitute a positive trend for further progress.

1 Source: Central Bank of Slovenia, The economic and financial developments, January 2018; UMAR, Economic mir-
ror, No. 1/2018.
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The quarterly economic growth in the euro area is maintained at the similar levels as in the 
previous quarters and amounted to 0.6 percent in the third quarter of 2017. Meanwhile, the 
year-on-year growth of 2.6 percent was higher than in the previous quarter and the main 
contributory factor was the private consumption of 1.0 percentage point, followed by the 
gross fixed capital formation of 0.9 percentage point. The government consumption in the 
third quarter contributed 0.2 percentage point to the year-on-year economic growth. 

The confidence in the euro area economy continues to grow and is higher than in the previous 
year, and substantially above the long-term average. In September 2017, the growth reached 
the level of summer 2007. The growth also continued in the fourth quarter and in December 
2017, it reached a highest multiannual level. The public confidence is strengthening in all 
areas and respects, as well as among the consumers. The situation on the labor market re-
mains favorable and the unemployment rate is still decreasing. For the first time since 2009, 
the Harmonised Unemployment Rate (HUR defines the unemployed as people of working age 
who are without work, are available for work, and have taken specific steps to find work) fell 
below 9 percent and reached 8.8 percent  in October 2017. 

In the third quarter of 2017, the high growth in the Slovenian economy was largely the result 
of the exploitation of the economic climate in the euro area. The contribution made to GDP 
growth by the export sector increased to its highest level since 2010, although from a signifi-
cantly higher starting point than after the crisis year of 2009. In the third quarter, the man-
ufacturing sector’s turnover on euro area markets was almost 16 percent in year-on-year 
terms. The export thus compensated for the slowdown in the domestic private consumption, 
and even more for the slowdown in investments. The growth in investments was surprisingly 
low compared to the economic growth, although the slowdown was most probably merely 
temporary, given that the conditions for investments are extremely favorable. A particular 
highlight is the record operating surplus in the corporate sector, which allow companies to 
finance themselves with internal resources and is reducing the need for bank financing.

The labor market conditions with a rapid employment growth are also providing for a faster 
growth in the private consumption than was realized in the third quarter. According to the 
survey data on the economic sentiment and new orders, the climate is not letting up. Al-
though the structural imbalances are increasing in the labor market, and the growth in de-
mand for work is outpacing the growth in supply, the labor availability remains higher than 
in the pre-crisis years of an overheating economy. 

The increase in wage growth over the first ten months of 2017 was low and did not entirely 
track the rise in inflation. Following the sharp employment growth, the growth in nominal 
wage bill increased further, averaging 5.9 percent over the first ten months of 2017, which 
is strengthening the consumer purchasing power. The structure of employment reflects the 
structure of the Slovenian economy, which also being reflected in the complexity of Slove-
nia’s merchandise exports. In autumn 2017, the nominal export growth reached its pre-crisis 
level, although the economy in the international environment was less strong than at that 
time and the actual volume of exports was at a noticeably higher level than a decade ago.

The fiscal position of Slovenia is improving, as a result of the favorable cycle conditions and a 
decline in interest payments on the general government debt as a share of GDP. The growth 
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in the general government expenditure remained moderate, primarily owing to low govern-
ment investment as a result of the very weak disbursement of the EU funds, which delayed 
significantly from the government’s original plans. The financing conditions were also ex-
tremely favorable: the current spreads on the long-term bonds are merely around 40 basis 
points over the German benchmarks of comparable maturities. According to the Ministry of 
Finance forecasts, the general government deficit for 2017 was expected to stand at 0.8 per-
cent of GDP, down just over 1.0 percentage point on 2016, while the government is forecast-
ing a surplus of 0.4 percent of GDP for 2018. Despite the favorable GDP forecasts and the 
anticipated high growth in the general government revenues, the government must actively 
endeavor to achieve the planned surplus, as the pressures for a more significant rise in expen-
ditures, particularly on wages, have recently strengthened sharply. 

After two years of deflation, the inflation had risen to 1.9 percent by December 2017, thereby 
exceeding the euro area average. All of the last year’s main movements in headline inflation 
were primarily caused by the movements in the global oil prices. The core inflation indica-
tors increased only slightly, and remained between 0.7 percent and 1.1.percent, below the 
euro area average. The core inflation was raised by the food prices, while the prices of non-
energy industrial goods continued to fall, most likely as a result of the falling import prices 
and strong competition in the retail sector. The growth in the prices of services remained 
unchanged, despite a strong domestic economic activity. 

Forecast of economic development

Real GDP Growth Consumer Price Index Unemployment Rate

2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018

Advanced Economies 1.7 2.2 2.0 0.8 1.7 1.7 6.2 6.0 5.4

Euro Area 1.8 2.1 1.9 0.2 1.5 1.4 10.0 9.2 8.7

Spain 3.2 3.1 2.5 -0.2 2.0 1.5 19.6 17.1 15.6

Sweden 3.2 3.1 2.4 1.1 1.6 1.6 7.0 6.6 6.3

Slovenia 3.1 4.0 2.5 -0.1 1.6 1.8 8.0 6.8 6.4

Israel 4.0 3.1 3.4 -0.5 0.2 0.5 4.8 4.3 4.5

South Korea 2.8 3.0 3.0 1.0 1.9 1.9 3.7 3.8 3.6

Germany 1.9 2.1 1.8 0.4 1.6 1.5 4.2 3.8 3.7

Italy 0.9 1.5 1.1 -0.1 1.4 1.2 11.7 11.4 11.0

Austria 1.5 2.3 1.9 1.0 1.6 1.8 6.0 5.4 5.3

China 6.7 6.8 6.5 2.0 1.8 2.4 4.0 4.0 4.0

Croatia 3.0 2.9 2.7 -1.1 1.1 1.2 15.0 13.9 13.5

Montenegro 2.5 3.0 2.8 -0.3 2.1 2.6 / / /

Iran 12.5 3.5 3.8 9.0 10.5 10.1 12.5 12.4 12.4

Turkey 3.2 5.1 3.5 7.8 10.9 9.3 10.9 11.2 10.7

 Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook, October 2017.  

 
The current macroeconomic environment in Slovenia indicates that the economy will con-
tinue to grow in 2018, but it is expected that the growth will be lower than in 2017, when, 
according to the first data of the Statistical Office, it was of 5.0 percent. The projected eco-
nomic growth is supposed have a positive impact on the Slovenian (re)insurance market and 
consequently on the Company’s reinsurance premium volume. The forecasts of the most im-
portant foreign (re)insurance markets are also rather favorable and the premium growth is 
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anticipated. Despite the historically destructive 2017 storm season, e.g. hurricanes Harvey, 
Irma and Maria in America, typhoon Hato in China, a surplus in the reinsurance capacity is 
still recorded although reduced compared to the previous year. 

5.2 Capital markets2

In 2017, the stock prices on the Ljubljana Stock Exchange generally grew. The SBI TOP in-
dex after the year 2016 (3.08% return) also closed the year 2017 with a 12.39 percent return. 
Compared to the year 2016, both the turnover and market capitalization of shares increased. 
The total turnover amounted to EUR 347.4 million, which is by 4.1 percent more than in 2016. 
The highest turnover was generated by the shares amounting to EUR 334.6 million or 96.3 
percent of the total turnover. In view of the turnover structure, the shares are followed by 
the bonds with a 3.1 percent share and by the commercial bills with a 0.6 percent share in 
the total turnover. In 2017, the most traded shares were again the Krka (KRKG) shares and 
they generated a share of 42.0 percent in the total stock exchange turnover. The trading of 
Zavarovalnica Triglav shares (ZVTG) which price increased by 24.57 percent in 2017 took the 
second place with a 12 percent share in the total turnover. 

After a rapid growth at the end of 2016, the current increase in the bank loans to the non-
financial corporations remained in the first nine months of 2017 relatively low and the financ-
ing of the debt securities declined. The companies still cover most of their investment needs 
with their own resources or with the equity financing. The accelerated growth in domestic 
consumption is expected to increase the demand for bank financing, which could provide a 
support for the continuation of the investment cycle. The banks’ loan portfolio is continuously 
improving, while the relation between the existing assets and the deposits indicates the ex-
cess capacity, which could be transformed in the long-term banking in the future. 

5.3 Insurance market3  

According to the forecasts of the Swiss Re, a global growth of the non-life insurance premi-
ums should remain stable in 2018 and 2019. As in 2017, it is estimated to be around 3.0 percent. 
Given the catastrophic loss events in the second half of the year in the USA (fires in Califor-
nia, Hurricane Harvey) and Latin America (Hurricanes Irma and Maria, earthquake in Mexico 
City) and, consequently, the lower profits of (re)insurance companies, a slight (re)insurance 
premium growth can be expected in the affected regions and sectors due to a subsequent 
increase in the premium price.
 
The main drivers of the premium growth will continue to be the emerging markets. Last year, 
China particularly stood out with a premium growth of 9.6 percent. The expected growth in 
these countries in 2017 is around 6.0 percent, and by the year 2019 it is projected to increase 

2 Sources: 
Ljubljana Stock Exchange, Central Bank of Slovenia: The economic and financial developments, January 2018
Swiss Re, Sigma No 3/2017, Global insurance review 2017 and Outlook 2018/2019, November 2017
3 Swiss Re Report, February 2017 
Munich Re: Natural Catastrophe Review, January 2018
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to 7.0 percent. However, the life insurance premium is projected to grow faster compared to 
the non-life insurance premium. The expected growth in the global premium in the upcom-
ing years is around 4.0 percent and is primarily based on an extremely favorable sale of the 
savings products on the Asian continent.

According to the estimates prepared by the experts from Swiss Re and assuming that the cat-
astrophic losses will be at the long-term average and despite the low interest rates, the prof-
its of the reinsurance companies can somewhat improve in 2018. However, the situation on 
the global financial markets does not allow a substantial increase arising from investing and 
financing. The reinvestment risk therefore remains one of the major risks to the reinsurance 
industry. The additional risk for the smaller reinsurance companies is presented by the pro-
tectionism that is occurring in some countries (USA) and it favours only the local reinsurers.

Considering a record level of paid compensation due to the catastrophic losses (hurricanes, 
floods, earthquakes and other natural disasters), the year 2017 was not favorable for the 
global (re)insurance industry. The reinsurance companies paid the total amount of approxi-
mately USD 135 billion, but the economic damage due to the mentioned losses amounted to 
USD 330 billion. The payments of compensations were strongly reflected in the lower profits 
of the reinsurance companies; for example, the Swiss Re Group generated in 2017 only a tenth 
of the profit compared to 2016. The natural disasters mainly affected the American continent: 
Hurricane Harvey hit mainly the state of Texas with the capital city of Houston, Hurricane 
Irma has caused much material damage in the Caribbean islands (especially in Cuba) and in 
Florida, and Hurricane Maria caused enormous damage on the Caribbean islands, especially 
in Puerto Rico. Two strong earthquakes with a magnitude of 8.1 and 7.1 were recorded in Mex-
ico and the second earthquake was especially devastating for the city of Ciudad de Mexico. 

Europe’s share in the global insurance market declined somewhat in 2016. According to the 
latest available data provided by Swiss Re, Europe collected about 31.1 percent of the total in-
surance premium in 2016, or 1.2 percentage points less than the year before. North and South 
America collected 0.8 percentage point less premiums in 2016 than in 2015 and accounted for 
just over 34.1 percent of the global share. Asia strengthened its position again. Its share grew 
by 1.9 percentage point and amounted to 31.6 percent of the global premium volume. Africa 
and Oceania have also strengthened their role, collecting together a share of 3.3 percent of 
the global insurance premium. In 2016, Slovenia was the 55th player on the global insurance 
market and had the same share of 0.05 percent as in 2015; the 33rd in terms of the premium 
per capita, which means two positions worse than the year before and the 30th in terms of 
the insurance penetration (a share of premium in GDP), which means three positions better 
than in 2015.

5.4 Insurance market in Slovenia

In 2017, fourteen (14) insurance companies and four (4) foreign branches operated in the Slo-
venian insurance market. Among the traditional insurance companies, there were ten com-
posite companies and seven specialized companies (e.g. for life, health and non-life insur-
ance). The traditional insurance companies collected the insurance premium of EUR 2.179 
billion, which is slightly more than in the previous year (index 105.5). In the total premium 
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volume, the non-life premium represents a share of 70.0 percent and the life insurance pre-
mium of 30.0 percent, which shows that the non-life insurance premium volume increased 
(index 104.5) compared to the previous year and the life insurance premium increased by 7.8 
percent.  These figures do not include the insurance operations performed directly by the in-
surance companies from the other EU Member States. Their share is on an increasing trend, 
but in our estimation it is still negligible.

The four largest insurance companies controlled 71.6 percent share of the Slovenian insur-
ance market (in 2016: 74.5 percent). In 2017, Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d. maintained its leading 
position with a market share of 27.7 percent. The insurance companies with majority foreign 
capital (e.g. the insurance companies Generali, Merkur, Grawe, Wiener Städtische Group, Al-
lianz, Ergo, Arag SE) collected a total premium volume of nearly EUR 247.0 million but their 
market share fell from 11.6 percent in 2016 to 11.4 percent in 2017. 

As of 31 December 2017, the market share of Triglav Re, d.d. amounted to 44.7 percent and it 
increased by 0.4 percentage point compared to 2016.

Zavarovalnica 
Triglav d.d.  
27.7%

Triglav Re 
44.7%

Market shares of insurance companies 
operating in Slovenia in 2017          

Market shares of reinsurance companies 
operating in Slovenia in 2017      
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The effective risk management system is an essential part of the business operations of 
each (re)insurance company. The aim of a comprehensive and independent risk management 
system is to ensure the implementation of strategic and business objectives of the Company.

The Company’s risk management system is transparent, structured and documented, and it is 
implemented in its day-to-day business operations. It represents a part of the Triglav Group 
risk management system.

The following priorities were fulfilled in the year 2017:
 Triglav Re has upgraded the existing risk management system;
 Triglav Re has timely and comprehensively fulfilled the prescribed regulatory reporting 

requirements;
 Triglav Re has successfully maintained its high capital adequacy, as the available capi-

tal continuously enabled to meet the capital requirements estimated by using the ap-
plicable regulations and the Company’s own risk and solvency assessment;

 Triglav Re has continued to implement the conservative policy of risk assumption and 
operated within the set limits of the risk appetite;

 Triglav Re has carried out a regular annual review of the key documentation in the risk 
management system;

 Triglav Re was positively assessed by the Insurance Supervision Agency in respect of its 
risk management system.

The requirements of all three pillars of Solvency II regime were thus fulfilled:
Pillar 1: The required volume and quality of the capital should reflect the risk profile to 

which an individual (re)insurance company is exposed in its operations.
Pillar 2: The effective and consistent management system and risk management system 

must be established containing a reliable and comprehensive internal control. A 
part of the second pillar also includes the Company’s own risk assessment which 
must be taken into account when making business decisions.

Pillar 3: The Company must provide the necessary reporting system and also a public disclo-
sure of information.

6. RISK 
MANAGEMENT
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The Company’s key activities in the field of risk management were:
-  the successful implementation of the regular quarterly and annual reporting system on 

the capital adequacy in accordance with the requirements of Solvency II,
-   informing the Supervisory Board by providing the Regular supervisory report,
-   regular updating the management and the supervisory bodies on the key risk exposure, 
-  the implementation of the process of the Company’s own risk and solvency assessment 

(ORSA),
-  upgrading the centralized risk management system taking into account the guidelines 

of the parent company,
-  a regular review of the internal acts on the Company’s governance, the risk manage-

ment and the compliance systems, 
 -  upgrading the risk measurement methodologies,
 -  providing a training for the staff members to identify the potential and existing opera-

tional risks,
 -  a public disclosure of the Company’s solvency and financial condition report (the SFCR),
 -  providing the relevant training programs to understand the importance of the proper 

risk management system.

6.1  Risk management system

The risk management system can be described as a system that supports a reasonable and 
careful exposure to the diversified risks, depending on the Company’s ability to assume a risk. 
In order to ensure a safe and successful operating performance of the Company, it is neces-
sary to establish an effective and comprehensive risk management system that provides the 
appropriate manners of the risk management and risk control, thereby enabling the better 
business decisions.

The Company’s key principles of risk assumption and management are:
- the involvement of the management and supervisory bodies in the risk management 

process,
- the assumption of risks within the Company’s capacities and/or with regard to the capi-

tal strength,
- the timely payments of all outstanding liabilities,
- the appropriate organizational structure with clearly defined competences and respon-

sibilities,
- securing and spreading the appropriate risk management culture,
- the operating performance in accordance with the legislation and the individual regu-

lations.

The essential documents of the Company’s risk management system are the Risk Underwrit-
ing and Management Strategy (hereinafter: the Strategy) and the Risk Appetite Statement 
(hereinafter: the Risk Appetite) which represent a basis for the internal acts relating to the 
policy, the methodologies and instructions for the risk management.

The Strategy defines the comprehensive risk management system and the guidelines for a 
particular risk underwriting, quantified in the Risk Appetite. This strategic document quan-
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titatively defines the level to which the Company is able and willing to expose itself in an 
individual risk segments, taking into account its strategic objectives and capital strength.

The risk management is a corporate governance system, which ensures that the Company’s 
risk profile is within the limits set in the Risk Appetite. The risk management system is based 
on the Three Lines of Defence model.

 The first line of defence consists of the business functions, which actively manage a 
concrete business risks through their business decisions and are primarily responsible 
for the risk identification and underwriting, the effective internal controls and perfor-
mance of the business operations within the prescribed limits, policies and the strate-
gic goals.

 The second line of defence is composed of the following key business functions: the 
risk management function, the actuarial function, the compliance function and the Risk 
Management Committee. The purpose of the second level is to implement the effective 
risk management system which includes the coordination of activities related to risk 
management, preparation of the methodologies for risk identification, the risk mea-
surement and assessment, the exposure limit system, controlling and monitoring the 
exposure to a risk and verifying the compliance with the valid regulations. 

 The third line of defence includes the internal audit function which is independent 
from all other organizational units in the Company. This function performs on a regular 
basis the adequacy and the efficiency reviews of the internal controls in each Com-
pany’s individual functional areas. Furthermore, it controls the activities from the first 
and the second line of defence.

The Management and Supervisory Boards are not directly a part of the Three Lines of De-
fence, even though they play the essential role in the risk management system. Both Boards 
are informed by all Three Lines of Defence and are responsible for the performance of the 
Three Lines of Defence in the frame of the risk management system and control processes.

Within the second and third line of defence there are four key functions that must be clearly 
separated and the independent organizational units. These four key functions are: the risk 
management function, the compliance function, the internal audit function and the actuarial 
function. They are included in the Company’s organizational structure but they shall not be 
subject to any influences that may threaten the ability to perform the duties in an objective, 
fair and independent manner. They are allowed to have an unlimited access to all information 
they may require to carry out their duties.

The Company has implemented the internal regulations governing the risk management, the 
internal controls, the compliance function, the internal audit and, if appropriate, the out-
sourcing service provider with clearly defined responsibilities, objectives, processes and re-
porting procedures which must be used. The internal regulations must comply with the gen-
eral business strategy.
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The risk management function is responsible for:
- supporting the management and supervisory bodies and other functions in the effec-

tive implementation of the risk management system,
- participating in the implementation of the appropriate risk management system,
- the risk identification, measuring, monitoring and reporting in accordance with the 

minimum Standards of the Triglav Group,
- participating in the important risk management decisions,
- coordinating and supervising the activities in the field of risk management (capital 

measurement and own risk and solvency assessment),
- monitoring the Company’s risk profile,
- informing the management and supervisory bodies on the risk exposures. 

The compliance function is a part of the Company’s control system, which duties comprise:
- the evaluation of a possible impact of the legislative changes on the Company’s per-

formance and informing the Company’s management as well as other departments, 
services and functions,

- the identification and assessment of the risks related to the non-compliance of opera-
tions,

- the regular reporting to the Management and Supervisory Boards on the compliance 
of operations, including on a possible risk of the non-compliance and providing the 
guidelines and the recommendations,

- the participation in preparation and updating the compliance programs in the certain 
Company’s departments, including the internal controls,

- the implementation the reviews of compliance of operations on a regular basis.
 
The internal audit function is responsible for the implementation of the efficient, compre-
hensive and continuous control over the Company’s governance so as to increase the benefits 
of its operations. The internal auditor also carries out the advisory services, cooperates with 
the external auditors and other supervisory bodies and monitors the implementation of the 
recommendations given by the external auditors. He periodically reports on his activities and 
findings to the Management Board, the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board. The in-
ternal auditors must be independent and competent in their work and they must avoid the 
conflicts of interest. They are not allowed to perform any development or operational duties 
that might result in the conflict of interests or are likely to affect their impartiality. They are 
also not authorized to decide on the operations related to the internal auditing.

The most important part of the actuarial function is related to the calculation of insurance 
technical provisions and thus ensuring:
- the use of the appropriate methods and assumptions for the calculation of the insur-

ance technical provisions,
- assessing the suitability, the adequacy and the data quality for calculation of the insur-

ance technical provisions,
- the verification of the Company’s general policy related to the risks assumption and the 

reinsurance program,
- providing his own opinion on the level of the insurance technical provisions and their 

sufficiency to cover all contractual liabilities.
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Furthermore, the actuarial function is closely connected with the risk management function, 
as it actively participates in the implementation of the risk management system, particularly 
in the risk identification process, in the development of the methodologies for the risk as-
sessment, in monitoring the appropriateness of the capital requirement calculation and in 
conducting its own risk and solvency assessment (ORSA).

The Supervisory Board gives his approval to the key directions for the risk management 
system, i.e. the Strategy and the Risk Appetite. It is regularly informed on the Company’s risk 
exposure and the capital adequacy, on the own risk assessment and solvency and it gives its 
approval to the report on the solvency and financial position.

The Supervisory Board has appointed the Audit Committee as a working body for a profes-
sional assistance when deciding on the adequacy of the risk management system.

The Management Board of the Company defines the business objectives and is responsible 
to provide the necessary support for the implementation of the efficient and reliable internal 
governance system, which also includes the effective risk assumption and management pro-
cess in accordance with the applicable legislation. It adopts all internal acts and the essential 
reports in the field of risk management. The Management Board is committed to achieve the 
optimal profitability within the adopted Risk Appetite. 

The Management Board has appointed the Risk Management Committee which has an ad-
visory role and also certain decision-making rights. The Risk Management Committee man-
ages all material risks for the Company and assists the Management Board in monitoring the 
Company’s exposure to the key risks and the risk concentration; controls the performance of 
the risk management system, it participates in the preliminary reading of the Company’s in-
ternal rules falling within the scope of the risk management, confirms the risk measurement 
methodologies, presents the risk appetite proposal, regularly reviews the effectiveness of the 
risk management system and the compliance between the individual key functions.

6.2  Process of risk management

The process of the effective risk management system consists of the following parts:

Risk identification is the process to identify and understand all the risks that occurred or 
would occur in the Company’s operating performance. The Company has for this purpose 
prepared and implemented the Risk Catalogue which contains the descriptions of all existing 
and potential risk types. The risk management service conducts the annual interviews with 
the individual business areas in order to identify the key risks and stress scenarios to which 
the Company is potentially the most exposed.

Risk measurement and assessment: The risks are measured by defining and monitoring the 
quantitative risk measures that are generally adopted in the insurance and banking sectors 
by using the methodologies based on the mathematical and statistical techniques. The risks 
which are difficult to be measured are estimated by the professional approaches. On the basis 
of an existing risk exposure, the Company shall take and implement appropriate risk man-
agement measures and monitor movements in the exposure to a particular risk.
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Management and control of defined risks: The Company’s response to the risk occurrence 
depends on its capital strength and performance, on the risk appetite and on the regulatory 
and economic environment. The Company needs to measure, analyze and evaluate the risk 
factors which are continuously monitored by the risk management service.

The management of the identified risks is carried out by means of:
- the limits set up for the individual risks (e.g. the investment limits, the limitations in expo-

sures to the counterparties, the limits relating to the interest and currency consistency of 
the  balance sheet, etc.),

-  the retrocession contracts in order protect the Company’s performance against the poten-
tial catastrophic losses,

- the protection against the market risk by means of the derivatives, that the Company may 
use only for the purpose of hedging against the risks and not for the speculative purposes. 

 In 2017, the Company did not use any derivatives. 

The risk controlling and ensuring the early warning system in case of deviations and/or vio-
lations shall be carried out regularly and according to the comprehensive risk profile of the 
Company, as well as according to the frequency and a type of changes in the business envi-
ronment. The risk control is managed by the Company’s risk management service.

Risk reporting system must provide the efficient and timely access to information on the 
risks in order to ensure the optimal functioning of the Company and its prompt and suitable 
reaction. The reports must be submitted to the management and supervisory bodies and 
other competent authorities that are involved in the decision-making process. The results 
on the risk exposure must be provided in the periodic statements on the risk exposure, the 
Report on the own risk and solvency assessment (ORSA) and the Solvency and financial con-
dition report (SFCR). 

6.3 Own risk and solvency assessment (ORSA)

In 2017, the Company’s own risk and solvency assessment (the ORSA) was again carried out. 
The purpose of the ORSA process is to ensure that the Company has a sufficient quantitative 
and qualitative capital in relation to its risk profile and business strategy, and to ensure the 
adequate capital reserves which protect the Company against the negative future effects of 
the possible financial or economic crisis. 

The ORSA process is carried out at least once per year. On a basis of the business strategy 
and future expectations, it is necessary to identify the key risks and stress scenarios, which 
could have a negative impact on the achievement of the planned objectives and limits within 
the Risk Appetite. All organizational units are included in the ORSA process and are regularly 
informed on the results. 

The application of the ORSA process enables the Company to identify the risks and the stress 
scenarios which are classified according to the probability of occurrence and the extent of 
impact. At the same time, the Company evaluates the adequacy of the standard formula of 
calculating the capital requirements, as required under the Pillar I of Solvency II. If it is estab-
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lished that the standard formula is not sufficient to cover the identified key risks, the Company 
shall make additional capital requirements which are set by the Company.

The results of the ORSA process are provided in the ORSA Report. The Management Board, 
the Senior Management and the Supervisory Board must be informed on the achieved results.

The implementation of the ORSA process in 2017 reaffirmed the Company’s strong capital 
position in relation to the identified risks.

6.4 Capital management

The capital represents the prime criterion for assessing the Company’s solvency, as in its op-
erations the Company must permanently possess the adequate capital in order to protect the 
owner’s and the contractual partners’ assets. The adequate capital base represents a safety 
margin for various risks the Company is exposed to and protects the Company against any 
unexpected adverse events. The Company is obliged to keep the sufficient assets correspond-
ing to the Company’s exposure and business strategy.

The Company has defined the following three criteria for the assessment of its capital 
strength, which are also taken into account in determining its dividend policy:
- the regulatory capital adequacy,
- the capital adequacy based on its own risk and solvency assessment and
- the assigned ratings by the S&P.

In 2017, the Company remained sufficiently capitalized.

Capital adequacy risk and the compliance with capital requirements

The capital risk is a risk of the loss due to an inadequate capital structure with regard to the 
business volume, the way of doing business or the problems encountered by the Company 
when acquiring a fresh capital, especially in a case of the unfavorable operating conditions 
or the need for a rapid capital increase.

In line with the applicable legislation, the Company quarterly calculates the amount of the 
available capital to meet the statutory solvency capital requirements. The capital require-
ments remained in 2017 the same as in 2016, as there were no significant changes in the risk 
profile. The capital adequacy may also be monitored through the capital model of the S & P 
agency. The implementation of the ORSA process is of the utmost importance in the capi-
tal adequacy management.  The regular monitoring of the key performance and the capital 
adequacy indicators allows the Company to optimize the business operations in accordance 
with its strategic objectives.

The Company’s unaudited available capital increased by EUR 1,505,000 in the first three quar-
ters of 2017 compared to the previous year and the Company complied with the regulatory 
capital adequacy requirements throughout 2017. The total capital can be ranked among the 
basic own funds of the first class representing the highest quality capital.
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On 30 September 2017, the unaudited available capital amounted to EUR 101,766,000. The 
ordinary share capital of EUR 4,950,000 and the excess of the assets over the liabilities (the 
reconciliation reserve of EUR 96,816,000) are the Company’s basic own funds. In 2017, the 
Company had no ancillary own funds and any deductible items from the capital.

The unaudited current best estimate of the solvency ratio according to the requirements 
of Solvency II on 30 September 2017
 

30 September 2017 31 December 2016

Total appropriate capital to cover SCR (in EUR) 101,765,582 100,260,954

Total appropriate capital to cover MCR (in EUR) 101,765,582 100,260,954

SCR – Solvency capital requirement (in EUR) 30,748,293 30,748,293

MCR – Minimum capital requirement (in EUR) 13,836,732 12,544,985

Capital adequacy in relation to SCR 
(appropriate capital to cover SCR/SCR)

331% 326%

Capital adequacy in relation to MCR
(appropriate capital to cover MCR/MCR)

735% 799%

*According to the Solvency II methodology, the capital requirements are calculated regularly on an annual basis. 
Financial data as at 30 September 2017 are not audited.

 

As shown in the table above, the Company has a strong capital base, as demonstrated by the 
own risk and solvency assessment as well as by the credit rating of S&P and A.M. Best agen-
cies. As of 31 December 2017, the Company had the “A” credit rating with a stable medium-
term outlook.

The detailed disclosures on the capital adequacy for the year 2017 will be provided in the 
Report on the solvency and financial condition of the Company. 

6.5 Types of risks and their management system

The overall Company’s business is exposed to the multiple risks as described in the following 
section. 

Underwriting risk

Underwriting risks are the risks arising from the Company’s core business, i.e. reinsurance 
business. They are related to the risk of a possible loss occurrence or to an increase in the 
insurance liabilities due to an inadequate premium volume, to the inappropriate figures used 
in the calculation of the insurance technical provisions, to the inappropriate risk assumption, 
the changed trends in the loss occurrences, and also due to the changes in the natural, eco-
nomic, political, technological, social and cultural environment. The risk of insufficient insur-
ance technical provisions, the premium risk and the major loss risk as a result of the natural 
catastrophes are classified among the underwriting risks.
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Risk of insufficient insurance technical provisions

The Company must set up the corresponding insurance technical provisions for all assumed 
reinsurance business in order to cover all future liabilities from the reinsurance contracts and 
the possible losses arising from the assumed risks. The risk related to the insurance technical 
provisions is a potential risk that the volume of insurance technical provisions is not sufficient 
to cover all liabilities. This risk is primarily managed by the evaluation of the previous provi-
sions for outstanding claims and the subsequent actual liabilities incurred, by applying the 
appropriate actuarial methods in setting up the specific insurance technical provisions and by 
the prudent formation of the provisions for outstanding claims.

According to the International Accounting Standards and the Insurance Act, the Company sets 
up the following insurance technical provisions: the provisions for unearned premiums, the 
provisions for outstanding claims, the equalization provisions for credit insurance which are 
recorded under equity, the provisions for bonuses, rebates and cancellations, and other tech-
nical provisions, such as the provisions for unexpired risks. Those provisions constitute a basis 
for the preparation of financial statements in compliance with the IFRS. The sufficiency of the 
formed technical provisions is verified with the liability adequacy test (LAT). 

To calculate the capital adequacy, the Company forms the insurance technical provisions 
based on the Insurance Act-1. The volume of the insurance technical provisions shall be equal 
to the sum of a best estimate and a risk adjustment. The best estimate and the risk adjust-
ment shall be calculated separately. The duties of the key actuarial function are to coordinate 
the calculation of the insurance technical provisions, to ensure the use of the appropriate 
methods, models and assumptions, to evaluate the suitability, adequacy and quality of data 
needed for the calculation of insurance technical provisions, and to compare the amount of 
insurance technical provisions by the empirically-based data.

Due to the peculiarities in the reinsurance business, the Company cannot use the triangle 
method of paid claims prepared on the basis of loss occurrence, but it prepares the data 
on the settled claims by the underwriting years and then by using the appropriate actuarial 
methods it estimates the expected future liabilities by an individual underwriting year. The 
provisions for outstanding claims are not discounted. The excess of net provisions in the total 
amount of all underwriting years is positive, reflecting the fact that the risk of the insufficient 
insurance technical provisions was well-managed also in 2017.

As of 31 December 2017, the Company recorded the total net insurance technical provisions of 
EUR 107,757,024. The net insurance technical provisions by the type of provisions on 31 Decem-
ber 2017 are shown in the table below.
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Structure of net insurance technical provisions according to IFRS

in EUR

YEAR 2017 YEAR 2016

Net provisions for unearned premium 16,182,917 15,307,650

Net provisions for bonuses, rebates and cancellations 227,178 189,556

Net provisions for outstanding claims 91,167,398 85,541,242

Provisions for unexpired risks 179,531 245,894

TOTAL 107,757,024 101,284,343

The net insurance technical provisions increased by 6.4 percent in 2017 and are fully covered 
by the investment of assets as at 31 December 2017.

Premium risk versus claims 

The inadequate premium risk is a risk that the reinsurance claims would be higher than ex-
pected and/or that the premiums earned would be lower than expected.  

Premium risk management is a responsibility of the heads of departments who underwrite 
the reinsurance business. They have precisely defined powers and responsibilities for the un-
derwriting and are responsible that all procedures related to the underwriting are carried out 
at a highly professional level. They are also responsible for the establishment of a basic strat-
egy related to the Company’s exposure to a particular catastrophic event in the certain areas. 

A crucial reinsurance risk faced by the Company is the risk of a huge loss arising from a par-
ticular event or a series of events. Such loss can affect a number of reinsurance contracts 
which cover the same territorial scope and a number of different insurance classes covered 
by the reinsurance contract. These risks can arise from the loss events with the low frequency 
(e.g. natural disasters), from the unexpected demographic changes (e.g. ageing, mortality 
rate) or unexpected changes in legislation that could have a negative impact on the amount 
of compensations. The Company provides the appropriate reinsurance program according to 
which that part of the assumed business is covered which exceeds the maximum reinsur-
ance covers defined in the maximum retention lines.  The Company manages this risk by the 
professional underwriting, by measuring the exposure to the various natural hazards by the 
geographic areas and particularly by the properly determined retention limits.

Major loss risk as a result of natural catastrophes

The Company is operating with the companies in different regions worldwide. According to 
the guidelines, the Company is primarily focused on the short-term non-life business. The 
non-life reinsurance business generally includes the covers for losses caused by the various 
natural catastrophes. 

The natural catastrophes are considered to be the events with a low frequency but devastat-
ing effects, e.g. earthquakes, floods, storms, hail, sleet. The extent of this risk is affected by 
different characteristics such as, for instance, the scope of reinsurance cover in the regions 
that are historically more exposed to the occurrence of natural disasters, the geographic 
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dispersion, the reinsurance terms and conditions governing the covers of the natural catas-
trophes.

In assessing the potential loss arising from a natural disaster, some professional models 
and methods can be used that simulate various catastrophes on the basis of which the loss 
amount can be estimated taking into account different return periods for a particular part 
of the reinsurance portfolio. The Company is monitoring its exposure using a reference loss 
event with a return period of 200 years. 

The Company regularly monitors its exposure to the natural catastrophes by the different 
risks and by the geographical regions. The outward reinsurance contracts (retrocession con-
tracts) are concluded to cover a part of the already assumed risk providing a better control 
of the Company’s exposure and thereby protecting the Company’s assets. The previous rein-
surance programs have proved to be appropriate, as the Company continuously fulfilled all 
liabilities arising from the insurance contracts without any increased liquidity risk.

Market risks

Market risk is a risk of a loss due to the unfavourable changes in the financial markets, for 
instance, due to the changes in the financial instrument prices, in the interests and exchange 
rates, in the credit spreads, etc. which can have a negative impact upon the value of the Com-
pany’s assets and liabilities. 

The investment portfolio is subject to a risk of the loss arising from the adverse changes in 
the market risk factors that may adversely affect the value of financial investments.
The basic rules of the market risk management arising from the investment portfolio are 
based on: 
-  the sufficient funds to cover liabilities arising from the reinsurance contracts,
- the adequate dispersion of the investments so as to avoid an excessive dependence on 

an individual type of investment, on an individual issuer, a group of companies, a geo-
graphical area and an excessive accumulation of risk in the total portfolio,

- the good credit quality of the debt portfolio and
- the high liquidity investment.

The main instrument for the market risk management is represented by the limits represent-
ing the restrictions on taking the market risks. The limits arise from the risk appetite and 
they take into account the capital position of the Company, its strategic business objectives 
and the current situation on the financial markets. The exposure to an individual investment 
classes is limited, taking into account a type of the financial instrument, of the issuer and 
his credit quality. The limits determine the acceptable types of investments and prohibit the 
use of financial instruments for the purpose of speculation. They also restrict the maximum 
permissible exposure to a single person or a group of related persons.

By monitoring the market risk indicators, using the sensitivity analyses and by the stress sce-
narios, the Company regularly verifies its vulnerability to the changes in the various market 
risk factors and then adapt to them accordingly.
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Interest rate risk is a risk of the loss due to the changes in the value of interest-sensitive 
financial instruments resulting from the adverse changes in the interest rates and an inad-
equate interest rate consistency of the assets and liabilities.

The Company manages the interest rate risk by buying or selling the financial instruments 
with the appropriate maturity and the interest rates, by the various deposits, by choosing the 
appropriate duration of the interest rate periods and by adjusting the maturity of the liabili-
ties arising from the reinsurance contracts.

By monitoring the interest rate indicators, using the sensitivity analyses and by the stress 
scenarios, the Company regularly verifies its vulnerability to changes in the interest rates and 
then adapt to them accordingly.

Risk of variations of interest rates

The structure of debt securities

 in EUR 

31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

Debt securities 167,321,631 154,063,393

 - Government securities 82,496,257 78,742,166

 - Securities of financial institutions 49,574,987 46,970,456

 - Corporate securities 35,250,387 28,350,771

 - Compound securities 0 0

Financial derivatives 0 0

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 167,321,631 154,063,393

TOTAL OTHER ASSETS 7,824,060 16,056,021

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 175,145,691 170,119,414

 
Interest rate risk is a risk of loss due to a change in the value of the interest-sensitive financial 
assets and liabilities arising from an unfavourable change in the market level of the interest 
rates and an inadequate interest rate adjustment of the assets and liabilities. In case of the 
interest-sensitive assets that pay coupons until maturity, the Company is also exposed to the 
reinvestment risk, which is especially relevant in the period of low market interest rates. The 
Company maintains a partial mismatch between the maturity of assets and liabilities in order 
to generate the additional returns.

A criterion of the interest rate risk is a difference in duration of the assets and liabilities 
which is limited by the internal limit. In 2017, the difference in duration decreased which in-
dicates a lower exposure to the interest rate risk. 

The interest rate risk is managed by the appropriate investment diversification between the 
investments with a fixed return and with a variable return and the provisions that are covered 
by these investments. The Company can control the variations of the interest rate risk with the 
interest rate derivatives, but in 2017 the Company did not have any such instruments.
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The Company’s exposure to the market risk due to the variations in the interest rates is ac-
cumulated in the interest-sensitive investment portfolio, as shown in the table above. The 
Company is also exposed to the risk of changes in the future cash flows due to the variations 
in the market interest rates. In 2017, the Company fixed the assets to the call option only on 
the deposits with an interest rate of 0.00 percent to 0.01 percent. All deposits were with a 
fixed interest rate.

The Company continuously observes its exposure to the interest rate risk by monitoring the 
interest consistency in the assets (investment portfolio) and liabilities (insurance provisions). 
In addition, the Company regularly reviews and makes the estimates of the cash flows and the 
impact of variations in the interest rates relating to the investment portfolio and the insurance 
provisions. The overall objective of these strategies is to limit the net difference in the value 
of the assets and liabilities resulting from the variations in interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis of financial assets to interest rate risk
 
Sensitivity of the financial assets to the interest rates is expressed as an effect of the parallel 
shift of the interest rate curve by +/- 100 base points on the fair value of all interest-sensitive 
financial assets, i.e. the debt securities recorded as “available-for-sale” and “at fair value 
through profit or loss”.

The table shows that the sensitivity of financial assets to the interest rate risk decreased in 
2017. The positive and the negative variations in the interest rates still had the greatest impact 
on the government securities which represent the largest share in the Company’s portfolio.

Sensitivity analysis of financial assets to interest rate risk
 

 in EUR 

31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

 +100bp  -100bp  +100bp  -100bp 

Government securities -2,702,899 2,886,238 -3,849,500 3,849,500

Securities of financial institu-
tions

-1,549,364 1,634,976 -1,439,100 1,439,100

Corporate securities -1,153,878 1,214,444 -1,032,700 1,032,700

Compound securities 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0

TOTAL -5,406,142 5,735,658 -6,321,300 6,321,300

Impact on equity -5,406,142 5,735,658 -6,321,300 6,321,300

Impact on profit/loss 0 0 0 0
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Share price risk 

Structure of equity securities
 

in EUR

31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

Equity securities and investment funds 1,281,511 8,565,667

Shares in  EU 1,088,891 6,347,552

Shares in USA 0 0

Shares in Asia 0 0

Shares in emerging markets 192,619 1,605,485

Global shares* 0 612,630

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 1,281,511 8,565,667

TOTAL OTHER ASSETS 173,864,180 161,553,747

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 175,145,691 170,119,414

*Investments in shares with global investment diversification

The equity portfolio that is recognized in the statement of financial position “at fair value”, is 
exposed to the share price risk, which is a risk that the value of the equity will fluctuate as a 
result of the share prices changes, whether those changes are caused by the factors specific 
to an individual instrument or its issuer or by the factors affecting all instruments traded in 
the market.

The Company’s aim is to achieve the competitive returns by investing in a diversified portfolio 
of the high quality liquid securities. The Company carries out a regular analysis of the portfo-
lio characteristics. The Company’s asset presented in the securities is invested in the various 
companies in different industries. The limits set by the management and by the regulatory 
requirements, substantially limit the exposure to share price risk. The investment funds in-
clude the equity, the bond and mixed funds.

Sensitivity analysis of financial assets related to the risk of share price changes

in EUR

31. 12. 2017 31. 12. 2016

+10% -10% +10% -10%

Shares in  EU 108,889 -108,889 634,755 -634,755

Shares in USA 0 0 0 0

Shares in emerging markets 19,262 -19,262 160,549 -160,549

Global shares* 0 0 61,263 -61,263

TOTAL 128,151 -128,151 856,567 -856,567

Impact on equity 128,151 -128,151 856,567 -856,567

Impact on profit/loss 0 0 0 0

 * Investments in shares with global investment diversification
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Foreign currency risk

A foreign currency risk is a risk of the loss due to the variations in foreign currency exchange 
rates and an inadequate currency matching of the assets and liabilities. The foreign currency 
risk can be presented by the amount of the open foreign currency positions, the foreign cur-
rency fluctuation and instability and the market liquidity for an individual foreign currency.

The Company is exposed to the foreign currency risk and therefore it is necessary to balance 
the existing and the future assets and liabilities in each foreign currency. The currency struc-
ture of the investments must reflect the currency structure of the liabilities arising from the 
reinsurance contracts.

The Company has established the foreign currency limits which represent a key tool for the 
foreign currency risk management and each individual open foreign currency position is 
quarterly monitored by an independent risk management service, which regularly informs 
the Risk Management Committee. The Committee also adopts the decisions concerning a 
reduction of the open foreign currency positions. 

The transactions in the foreign currencies are translated into euro at the reference exchange 
rate of the European Central Bank valid for the day. Monetary assets and liabilities denomi-
nated in the foreign currency at the reporting day are translated into euro at the reference 
exchange rate of the European Central Bank valid on the balance sheet date. The profit or loss 
on the monetary items in foreign currency is the difference between the nominal amount 
(amortized cost) in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for the 
effective interest and the payments during the period, and the nominal amount (amortized 
cost) in the foreign currency translated at the exchange rate of the European Central Bank 
at the end of the period. The non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in the foreign 
currencies that are measured “at fair value” are translated to euro at the reference exchange 
rate of the European Central Bank valid on the day when the fair value was determined. The 
exchange rate differences resulting from the translation are recognized in the profit and loss 
or in the capital, depending on the accounting classification of each non-cash asset.

The foreign currency risks are arising from all balance sheet and off-balance sheet items in a 
foreign currency. This type of risk is managed by balancing the investments with the amount 
of liabilities or with the amount of the insurance technical provisions, which are expressed 
by the foreign currency clause. The investments structure as of 31 December 2017 reflects the 
compliance with the liabilities within the internally determined limits. A foreign currency risk 
also exists in the liabilities and claims, particularly from the reinsurance operations abroad 
due to the floating exchange rate. The currency risk is mitigated by ensuring the currency 
consistency of the receivables and liabilities with the same partners.

The currency structure of the financial investments contains all the financial investments, 
including the Company’s financial investments under the reinsurance contracts with the Ced-
ants.
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Currency structure of investments in financial assets
 

in EUR

YEAR 2017
FINANCIAL 

INVESTMENTS
in %

TECHNICAL 
PROVISIONS CEDED 
TO REINSURANCE

in %

EUR 160,462,687 91.6% 54,692,415 95.9%

USD 6,059,697 3.5% 424,244 1.9%

INR 1,342,761 0.8% 0 0.0%

TRY 1,683,319 1.0% 0 0.0%

ZAR 1,312,234 0.7% 0 0.1%

OTHER 4,284,993 2.4% 588,779 2.2%

TOTAL 175,145,691 100.0% 55,705,438 100.0%

in EUR

YEAR 2016
FINANCIAL 

INVESTMENTS
in %

TECHNICAL 
PROVISIONS CEDED 
TO REINSURANCE

in %

EUR 155,069,018 91.2% 48,593,375 97.4%

USD 10,018,086 5.9% 866,654 1.7%

INR 2,212,359 1.3% 0 0.0%

TRY 779,078 0.5% 0 0.0%

ZAR 559,681 0.3% 0 0.0%

OTHER 1,481,191 0.9% 429,147 0.9%

TOTAL 170,119,415 100.0% 49,889,176 100.0%

Currency structure of net insurance technical provisions  

in EUR

Currency
Net technical 

provisions 2017
in %

Net technical 
provisions 2016

in %

EUR 84,392,105 78.3% 78,564,602 77.6%

USD 6,566,379 6.1% 7,006,736 6.9%

TRY 1,943,040 1.8% 1,765,143 1.7%

ZAR 1,939,493 1.8% 913,411 0.9%

KRW 1,687,369 1.6% 1,703,050 1.7%

INR 1,593,401 1.5% 2,313,739 2.3%

CNY 1,332,912 1.2% 2,177,979 2.2%

Other 8,302,325 7.7% 6,839,683 6.8%

TOTAL 107,757,024 100.0% 101,284,343 100.0%

Insurance technical 
provisions

107,757,024 100.0% 101,284,343 100.0%

Equalisation provisions 0 0.0% 0 0.0%
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Currency sensitivity for the five largest open currency positions
 

in  EUR

31.12.2017 ASSETS LIABILITIES
Open foreign 

currency 
position

Appreciation 
of foreign 

currency vs. 
EUR by 10 %

Appreciation 
of foreign 

currency vs. 
EUR by 10 %

KRW - South Korean won 216,602 1,903,114 -1,686,513 -168,651 168,651

HKD - Hong Kong dollar 527,349 1,779,748 -1,252,398 -125,240 125,240

ZAR - South African rand 1,388,726 1,945,607 -556,881 -55,688 55,688

RUB - Russian rouble 541,619 1,045,972 -504,354 -50,435 50,435

TWD - New Taiwan dollar 58,689 391,214 -332,525 -33,253 33,253

in  EUR

31.12.2016 ASSETS LIABILITIES
Open foreign 

currency 
position

Appreciation 
of foreign 

currency vs. 
EUR by 10 %

Appreciation 
of foreign 

currency vs. 
EUR by 10 %

USD - US dollar 10,622,983 8,813,453 1,809,530 180,953 -180,953

KRW - South Korean won 1,205,327 3,007,566 -1,802,239 -180,224 180,224

HKD - Hong Kong dollar 91,107 955,639 -864,532 -86,453 86,453

TRY - Turkish lira 1,270,572 2,072,252 -801,681 -80,168 80,168

DKK - Danish krone 29,541 800,715 -771,174 -77,117 77,117

In 2017, the Company recorded the highest currency mismatch between the assets and the 
liabilities denominated in KRW, but at the end of 2017 the mismatch has been reduced com-
pared to the previous year. The open currency position in USD, which was the highest at the 
end of 2016, decreased significantly in 2017. The USD assets amounted to EUR 8,571,798, while 
the USD liabilities to EUR 8,821,914 at the year end.

The Company was the most sensitive to the rise in value of KRW compared to EUR.  In case 
of a 10 percent appreciation of KRW in relation to EUR, the Company would record a negative 
impact amounting to EUR 169,000 at the end of 2017. The sensitivity to the appreciation of the 
HKD currency in relation to EUR had also a negative impact on the Company’s assets in 2017.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk is a risk of the loss which may occur if the Company is not able to pay the 
outstanding liabilities or is forced to provide the sufficient liquid assets at the price which is 
significantly higher than normal. The liquidity risk is also a risk of the limited access to the 
financial funds needed for the payments of liabilities arising from the reinsurance contract 
and also of other liabilities. 

The main objective of the liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Company has at any 
time the sufficient liquid assets to pay all current liabilities within the prescribed terms and 
conditions. 

The Company manages the liquidity risk by monitoring the internally determined liquidity 
ratios, by weekly planning of the liquidity position, by monitoring the historical data on the 
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Company’s liquidity position (especially in case of the major loss events), by the highly liquid 
assets and a dispersion of deposits by maturity and of free funds in bank accounts. The Com-
pany has a portfolio of the highly liquid assets, which is a part of its liquidity risk manage-
ment strategy in order to ensure the business continuity and compliance with legal require-
ments.

The Company’s portfolio consists of the highly liquid assets and that is a part of its strategy 
for the liquidity risk management so that the Company can ensure the payment of all finan-
cial liabilities also in tense circumstances and without any noticeably higher additional costs.

The liquidity risk is managed by:
- regular monitoring of the planned cash flows from the assets and liabilities,
-   daily liquidity management,
-   annual planning of the short-term investments and the operational management of 

short-term investments,
-  regular monitoring of the costs for the alternative financing sources of (e.g. granting 

new credit lines)
-  regular informing on the extent of free funds,
-  providing an assessment of the changes in the insurance technical provisions by months 

for the following calendar year,
-  providing the regular reports on the liquidity position of the Company through struc-

tural liquidity indicators.

In 2017, the Company maintained a strong liquidity position with the sufficient quantity of the 
liquid assets for the timely payments of its liabilities.

The table below shows the structure of the undiscounted expected cash flows of the assets 
and liabilities.
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Structure of undiscounted expected future cash flows of assets and liabilities

31.12.2017 in EUR

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN 
1 YEAR

1 TO 5 
YEARS

5 TO 10 
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS

TOTAL Book value

Total financial investments 1,291,511 25,707,100 113,641,688 35,753,621 5,934,753 182,328,673 175,145,691

 Debt securities 0 19,174,550 113,641,688 35,753,621 5,934,753 174,504,613 167,321,631

- held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- at fair value through profit 
   or loss

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- available-for-sale 0 19,174,550 113,641,688 35,753,621 5,934,753 174,504,613 167,321,631

- loans and receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Equity securities 1,281,511 0 0 0 0 1,281,511 1,281,511

- at fair value through profit 
   or loss

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- available-for-sale 1,281,511 0 0 0 0 1,281,511 1,281,511

 Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Loans and receivables 10,000 6,532,549 0 0 0 6,542,549 6,542,549

Technical provisions ceded to 
Reinsurers

0 28,423,104 16,136,081 7,415,010 3,731,244 55,705,438 55,705,438

Operating receivables 0 48,937,780 3,670 0 0 48,941,449 48,941,449

Cash and cash equivalents 0 246,461 0 0 0 246,461 246,461

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

1,291,511 103,314,444 129,781,438 43,168,631 9,665,997 287,222,021 280,039,039

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN 
1 YEAR

1 TO 5 
YEARS

5 TO 10 
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS

TOTAL
Book value

Insurance technical provisions 0 99,501,641 45,548,010 12,958,777 5,454,036 163,462,462 163,462,462

Other provisions 0 96,162 8,584 11,626 77,473 193,846 193,846

Operating liabilities 0 31,941,079 0 0 0 31,941,079 31,941,079

Other liabilities 0 899,377 0 0 0 899,377 899,377

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS

0 132,438,259 45,556,593 12,970,403 5,531,509 196,496,764 196,496,764
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31.12.2016 in EUR

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN 
1 YEAR

1 TO 5 
YEARS

5 TO 10 
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS

TOTAL Book value

Total financial investments 8,575,667 17,202,152 96,686,216 48,612,730 7,363,552 178,440,317 170,119,415

 Debt securities 0 9,721,798 96,686,216 48,612,730 7,363,552 162,384,296 154,063,393

- held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- at fair value through profit 
   or loss

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- available-for-sale 0 9,721,798 96,686,216 48,612,730 7,363,552 162,384,296 154,063,393

- loans and receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Equity securities 8,565,667 0 0 0 0 8,565,667 8,565,667

- at fair value through profit 
   or loss

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- available-for-sale 8,565,667 0 0 0 0 8,565,667 8,565,667

 Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Loans and receivables 10,000 7,480,354 0 0 0 7,490,354 7,490,354

Technical provisions ceded to 
Reinsurers

0 23,107,792 14,867,899 7,960,634 3,952,851 49,889,176 49,889,176

Operating receivables 0 45,816,755 0 0 0 45,816,755 45,816,755

Cash and cash equivalents 0 147,777 0 0 0 147,777 147,777

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

8,575,667 86,274,476 111,554,115 56,573,364 11,316,403 274,294,025 265,973,123

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN 
1 YEAR

1 TO 5 
YEARS

5 TO 10 
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS

TOTAL
Book value

Insurance technical provisions 0 89,287,775 41,796,997 14,125,965 5,962,782 151,173,519 151,173,519

Other provisions 0 107,650 8,123 5,298 65,080 186,151 186,152

Operating liabilities 0 30,687,180 0 0 0 30,687,180 30,687,180

Other liabilities 0 900,445 0 0 0 900,445 900,445

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS

0 120,983,050 41,805,120 14,131,263 6,027,862 182,947,295 182,947,296

The liabilities and the assets are not discounted, but estimated by the sum of the expected 
future cash flows. The gross provisions related to the reinsurance contracts amounted to EUR 
163,462,462 (in 2016 to EUR 151,173,519). 

The Company maintains a partial mismatch between the maturity of the assets and liabilities 
and thus generates a part of its yield. The current liabilities are settled by the current rev-
enue, but there is also a possibility of selling the financial instruments, and therefore the high 
liquidity of the investment portfolio is being maintained by the Company.

Among all the securities, thirty debt securities are such that they can be recalled earlier by 
the issuers. At the reporting date, their total book value amounted to EUR 14,149,044 (in 2016 
to EUR 10,636,312).
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Credit risk 

Credit risk, or default risk, is the risk that a financial loss will be incurred if a counterparty 
does not fulfil its financial obligations in a timely manner. It can be also defined as a risk of 
default or credit quality deterioration due to fluctuations in the credit position of issuers of 
securities, counterparties and potential debtors to which the Company is exposed. Default 
risk has a significant effect on the value of a bond: if a debtor’s ability to repay debt is im-
paired, default risk is higher and the value of the bond will decline.

The credit risks may arise due to:
•	 the	financial	investments.	This	risk	reflects	the	possible	losses	due	to	the	payment	in-

ability or the poorer credit position of the issuers of the financial investments and of the 
counterparties in the business operations with the financial derivative instruments. The 
risk concentration is also included.

•	 the	outward	 reinsurance	 (retrocession)	business.	This	 risk	 reflects	 the	possible	 losses	
due to the payment inability or the reinsurers’ (retrocessionaires’) worse credit position. 

•	 the	claims	against	other	debtors	(e.g.	cedant’s	claims	arising	from	the	premium	payments)	

In accordance with the internal rules, the credit risk arising from the reinsurance contracts 
is managed by the selection of the Reinsurers (Retrocessionaires) and their credit ratings 
which generally should not be lower than “BBB +” by the Standard and Poor’s rating, respec-
tively “bbb +” by A. M. Best, except for the outward reinsurance of the liability and the motor 
insurance classes, where the credit rating generally must not be lower than “A –“ by the S&P, 
respectively “a-“ by A. M. Best.

The maximum exposure to the banks and the banking groups is determined by the internal 
methodology for the assessment of the credit quality taking into account their financial posi-
tion and the credit ratings of the internationally recognized rating agencies.

The selection of an issuer with the appropriate credit rating and the consideration of the 
maximum exposure to an individual issuer or a group of the related persons are the main 
concerns in the investment portfolio management.

The credit risk also includes the concentration risk which is measured in all business opera-
tions. Concentration risk within the credit risk is a risk of the loss in case of an excessive 
exposure to a single party, a group of related parties and parties who are associated by the 
common risk factors such as industry, a geographical area or country.
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Structure of assets exposed to the credit risk

in EUR

ASSETS YEAR 2017 YEAR 2016

Equity securities 1,281,511 1,173,181

Debt securities 167,321,631 154,063,393

Investment funds 0 7,392,486

Technical provisions ceded to Reinsurers 55,705,438 49,889,176

Loans and receivables 6,542,549 7,490,354

Financial derivates 0 0

Receivables 48,941,449 45,816,755

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 279,792,578 265,825,345

Credit risk in debt securities portfolio (taking into account the book value)

in EUR

CREDIT RATING YEAR 2017 in % YEAR 2016 in %

AAA 31,560,907 19% 28,972,127 19%

AA 14,366,623 9% 8,117,598 5%

A 43,241,987 26% 47,258,623 31%

BBB 57,281,365 34% 46,911,316 30%

BB 15,471,520 9% 19,321,042 13%

B 287,283 0% 271,903 0%

without credit rating 5,111,947 3% 3,210,785 2%

TOTAL 167,321,631 100% 154,063,393 100%

The credit risk is managed by the appropriate diversification of the better credit quality in-
vestments. On 31 December 2017, the investments in foreign securities amounted to EUR 
142,069,542. The average credit rating in the bond portfolio was “A” assessed by the S&P. 

The investments in the securities of the Republic of Slovenia and in the securities guaranteed 
by the Republic of Slovenia amounted to EUR 22,177,882 at the end of 2017 (at the end of 2016 
to EUR 23,995,722), which represents a share of 13 percent of all securities owned by the 
Company. On 31 December 2017, the securities portfolio of the Republic of Slovenia has the 
credit rating of “A-“ by Fitch. The Company also owns the debt securities without a credit rat-
ing and they were mostly issued by the Slovenia financial and corporate sector.

The credit risk of loans and receivables, which include the Company’s deposits with banks 
and financial investments under reinsurance contracts with the Cedants
 

in EUR

CREDIT RATING YEAR 2017 in % YEAR 2016 in %

AA 347,999 5% 301,301 4%

A 1,555,239 24% 1,858,010 25%

BBB 105,887 2% 109,593 1%

BB 231,846 4% 12,789 0%

without credit rating 4,301,579 66% 5,208,661 70%

TOTAL 6,542,549 100% 7,490,354 100%
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The receivables are also exposed to the credit risk. The credit risk considerably affects the 
characteristics of the reinsurance contracts, and the Company manages this risk by the mu-
tual offset of the receivables and the liabilities for losses relating to the same reinsurer (offset 
of the receivables for the premiums and liabilities for losses and commission payable in the 
inwards reinsurance, and offset of receivables for losses and commission and liabilities for 
premiums payable in outwards reinsurance). 

The below table shows the maturity structure of the already offset receivables and liabilities 
arising from the outward and inward reinsurance contracts. 

The maturity structure of receivables and liabilities from reinsurance operations (i.e. in-
ward and outward reinsurance operations)

in EUR

YEAR 2017 Not matured 
yet

Maturity up 
to 180 days

Maturity over 
180 days

Total

Inward operations 17,968,404 956,324 -158,441 18,766,286

- receivables for premium from reinsurance 
   assumed

37,362,743 3,688,970 605,538 41,657,251

- liabilities to Reinsurers for shares in claims -10,365,063 -1,605,827 -593,545 -12,564,435

- other liabilities from coinsurance and 
   reinsurance

-9,029,276 -1,126,819 -170,434 -10,326,530

Outward operatins -2,623,115 511,565 452,701 -1,658,848

- liabilities to retrocession premium -8,779,769 -142,864 -11,003 -8,933,635

- receivables for Reinsurers' shares in claims 3,804,988 644,498 457,497 4,906,983

- other receivables from coinsurance and 
   reinsurance

2,351,666 9,931 6,207 2,367,804

TOTAL 15,345,289 1,467,889 294,260 17,107,438

in EUR

YEAR 2016 Not matured 
yet

Maturity up 
to 180 days

Maturity over 
180 days

Total

Inward operations 16,300,415 826,084 -806,354 16,320,145

- receivables for premium from reinsurance 
   assumed

34,777,421 2,921,026 274,655 37,973,102

- liabilities to Reinsurers for shares in claims -10,524,378 -1,279,936 -991,055 -12,795,368

- other liabilities from coinsurance and 
   reinsurance

-7,952,629 -815,006 -89,954 -8,857,589

Outward operatins -2,393,302 -51,973 699,709 -1,745,566

- liabilities to retrocession premium -8,702,561 -318,384 -13,276 -9,034,222

- receivables for Reinsurers' shares in claims 3,997,152 220,977 702,881 4,921,010

- other receivables from coinsurance and 
   reinsurance

2,312,108 45,434 10,105 2,367,646

TOTAL 13,907,112 774,111 -106,644 14,574,579
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Structure of receivables by maturity

in EUR

YEAR 2017 Not matured 
yet

Maturity up 
to 180 days

Maturity over 
180 days

Total

Receivables from coinsurance and reinsur-
ance

43,519,397 4,343,399 1,069,242 48,932,037

- receivables for premium from reinsurance 
assumed

37,362,743 3,688,970 605,538 41,657,251

- receivables to Reinsurers for shares in 
claims

3,804,988 644,498 457,497 4,906,983

- other receivables from coinsurance and re-
insurance

2,351,666 9,931 6,207 2,367,804

Other receivables 9,412 0 0 9,412

TOTAL 43,528,809 4,343,399 1,069,242 48,941,449

in EUR

YEAR 2016 Not matured 
yet

Maturity up 
to 180 days

Maturity over 
180 days

Total

Receivables from coinsurance and reinsur-
ance

41,086,680 3,187,437 987,641 45,261,758

- receivables for premium from reinsurance 
assumed

34,777,421 2,921,026 274,655 37,973,102

- receivables to Reinsurers for shares in 
claims

3,997,152 220,977 702,881 4,921,010

- other receivables from coinsurance and re-
insurance

2,312,108 45,434 10,105 2,367,646

Other receivables 550,095 0 4,902 554,997

TOTAL 41,636,775 3,187,437 992,543 45,816,755

Credit risk can also result from the retrocessions in the event that a reinsurer (retrocession-
aire) does not fully and timely settle its obligations. In order to reduce this risk, the Company 
has established business and financial standards for assessing the reinsurers, based on the 
credit ratings provided by internationally recognized credit rating agencies and on the valid 
market information. The Company monitors the financial position of the business partners 
and, as a general rule, the retrocession contracts are concluded with the reinsurers of credit 
rating at least “A-” according to S & P, or the equivalent to other credit rating agencies for 
liability reinsurance and at least “BBB +” according to S & P. 

The table below shows the structure of the retroceded insurance technical provisions by the 
Retrocedants’ credit rating as of 31 December 2017 compared to the preceding year.
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Structure of retroceded insurance technical provisions by the Retrocedant’s credit rating 

in EUR

Reinsurers credit rating (S&P's) YEAR 2017 YEAR 2016

AAA 0 0

AA 26,090,519 21,953,174

A 27,270,918 26,076,822

BBB 727,120 270,447

BB 119,453 94,546

without credit rating 1,497,428 1,494,186

TOTAL 55,705,438 49,889,176

 
Operational risk

Operational risk in the insurance industry is the risk of a change in value caused by the fact 
that actual losses, incurred for inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, 
or from external events (including legal risk), differ from the expected losses. Operational 
risk can be summarized as human risk; it is the risk of business operations failing due to hu-
man error. 

The Company pays a special attention to the operational risk management. The operational 
risk is arising from the inadequate or failed activities:

- implementation of an internal process (an inadequate organization and inappropriate 
business processes can result in the business interruptions, a lack of information, an in-
adequate cost management, a poor document management and control, an unsuitable 
management of the internal changes, etc.),

- activities of employees (human resources risk can be found in inadequate human re-
source management, a staffing mistake, an inadequate internal regulations, etc.),

- functioning of the implemented systems (risk of an inadequate information technology, 
which includes the applications and infrastructure, technical aids, etc.) 

- monitoring and management of the external events and their effects (a legal risk, loss 
of credit ratings, unfair competition, etc.).

Operational risk does not include the strategic and reputation risk.

The management of the operational risks is based on the efficient system of the internal con-
trols that must be improved and updated from year to year. The Company manages the orga-
nizational risk by the adjustments in the internal organizational structure, by strictly defined 
responsibilities of all employees and a gradual computerization of the business processes. 
The staffing risk is managed by applying the knowledge transfer system among the employ-
ees and by the consistent and planned training courses. The key element of managing the 
information technology risk is the restructuring and upgrading the information technology 
system that will additionally support all reinsurance processes. The key element of the legal 
risk management is a continuous monitoring of the current legislation and the participation 
of the legal professional in all business decisions. 
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The Company has also established a reporting system and a system for centralized manage-
ment of the losses and incidents arising from the operational risk. The appointed employees 
from each organizational unit are responsible to fulfil the reporting requirements, and the 
possibility of anonymous reporting was also introduced. The risk management committee, 
the management board and the supervisory board are regularly briefed on the occurred losses.

Strategic and reputational risk 

Strategic risk is the risk of a loss arising from the wrong business decisions, insufficient 
execution of decisions, from the inadequate asset allocations or a failure to react effectively 
to changes in the business environment. The Company’s Management Board and Senior Man-
agement promptly exchange information relevant for making business decisions, for achiev-
ing the short-term and long-term goals and for decisions regarding the strategic risk man-
agement.

Identifying and assessing a strategic risk is carried out at least once a year, when the actual 
and potential strategic risks to which the Company is exposed are identified and assessed. 
The Company’s professional services are responsible for preparation of the professional doc-
uments based on the comparison between the planned and performed business operations.

Reputational risk, often called reputation risk, is the risk of a loss resulting from the dam-
ages to the Company’s reputation, which may result in the increased operating, capital or 
regulatory costs, in the legal disputes which can cause the loss of clients and business part-
ner and consequently the financial loss. The management of reputation risk is a duty of all 
employees of Triglav Re, including its supervisory bodies. 

The identification of a reputation risk is made by reporting of loss events arising from the 
operational risk as well as by internal workshops that are also intended to the risks self-
identification.

6.6 Future challenges in risk management

The Company will continue to improve the risk management system, follow the require-
ments and guidelines specified in the new Solvency II regime and will also closely monitor the 
changes in the external and internal environment and adapt to them within the risk appetite.

Triglav Re will continue to upgrade the risk management system, which will improve the 
process of making the business decisions and will ensure the Company’s sound and prudent 
operations and its financial integrity.

The Company will continuously monitor the changes in the internal and external environment 
and will adapt to them accordingly. The major improvements will be made in the reporting 
system, which will ensure the better quality information provided to the decision-making 
bodies. The Company will be also focused on the risk management system.
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The harmonization of the risk management system with the parent company, which will 
ensure a greater uniformity of the risk measurement methods used by the Triglav Group 
companies, a further development of the own risk and solvency assessment and of the risk 
exposure reporting will provide a better coordination of the management processes within 
the Triglav Group. However, the Company must take into account the specifics of its reinsur-
ance business, the own risk profile and the extent and complexity of the reinsurance business, 
as opposed to the insurance business. 

In 2018, the implementation of a new reinsurance information technology system will begin, 
which will improve the support to the reinsurance processes and it will represent a key con-
tribution to the reduction of the information technology risks exposure.

Another planned project for 2018 is the implementation of the requirements of the General 
Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), which will improve the risk identification and risk man-
agement systems in relation to the personal data. 
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RESULTS
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In 2017, Triglav Re, d.d. generated the net profit amounting to EUR 6,347,139 which is primar-
ily a result of the favorable insurance technical result which is better than planned and also 
better than the last year’s result. The combined ratio for the Company’s performance in 2017 
amounts to 93.8 percent, while the result achieved in 2016 was 96.7 percent. The achieved 
result is also a consequence of the higher return on investments and the lower operating 
costs as planned. 

7.1 Reinsurance premiums

In 2017, the gross reinsurance premium amounted to EUR 123,713,912 and in comparison with 
2016, it increased by 5.4 percent.

Reinsurance premium in 2017 and 2016
 

in EUR

YEAR 2017 YEAR 2016 INDEX PLAN 2017 INDEX TO PLAN

GROSS PREMIUM TOTAL 123,713,912 117,417,689 105.4 118,443,313 104.4

NET PREMIUM TOTAL 74,300,049 69,458,954 107.0 71,892,104 103.3

Breakdown of gross reinsurance premium by territories

7. FINANCIAL 
RESULTS

South and Nord Africa 0.3%
Eastern Europe 4.2%

Northern Europe 4.3%

Southern Europe 61.9%

Western Europe 9.8%

Carribean and Central America 0.7%

Central and West Asia 7.5%

East Asia 8.5%

South and South-East Asia 1.7%

Oceania  0.7%
South America 0.2%
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Structure of gross reinsurance premium Structure of net reinsurance premium
in 2017                      in 2017

The largest portion in the gross reinsurance premium is represented by the property rein-
surance which increased in 2017 by 0.7 percentage point compared to 2016 and the motor 
business also increased by 0.2 percentage points. The other lines of reinsurance increased 
by 0.3 percentage point compared to 2016. On the other hand, the share of marine business 
decreased by 0.8 percentage point, of the aviation by 0.4 percentage point and the share of 
other liability business also decreased compared to 2016.

In the net reinsurance premium structure, a share of the property reinsurance increased by 
2.2 percentage points and of the other reinsurance lines by 0.1 percentage point. A share of 
the marine and aviation reinsurance decreased by 1.1 percentage point, of the liability reinsur-
ance by 1.0 percentage point and of the motor reinsurance by 0.2 percentage point. 

The net reinsurance premium income (calculated from the gross reinsurance premiums re-
duced by the reinsurers’ share and adjusted by a change in the gross unearned premium, cor-
rected for the reinsurers’ share in the unearned premium) amounted to EUR 73,424,783 in 2017 
and it increased by 5.4 percent compared to 2016.

7.2 Reinsurance claims

In comparison with the preceding year, the gross claims amounting to EUR 56,764,142 in-
creased by 4.6 percent and they were within the planned level. The net claims were 8.5 per-
cent lower than planned.

Settled claims in 2017 compared to 2016
 

in EUR

YEAR 2017 YEAR 2016 INDEX PLAN 2017 INDEX  TO PLAN

GROSS CLAIMS TOTAL 56,764,142 54,273,094 104.6 56,602,291 100.3

NET CLAIMS TOTAL 41,177,234 41,009,776 100.4 45,026,570 91.5

Other Liability 
Reinsurance 5.6%

Other Reinsurance 4.4%

Motor Reinsurance 
17.3%

Marine and 
Aviation 
Reinsurance 
5.2%

Property Reinsurance 67.6%

Other Liability 
Reinsurance 5.1%

Other Reinsurance 2.9%

Motor Reinsurance 
19.5%

Marine and 
Aviation 
Reinsurance 
6.3%

Property Reinsurance 66.2%
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Structure of gross reinsurance claims  Structure of net reinsurance claims 
in 2017  in 2017
 

In 2017, the majority of gross claims affected the property and the motor reinsurance. Com-
pared to 2016, the highest increase in gross claims, i.e. by 4.1 percentage points, was recorded 
in the motor reinsurance; while in the property reinsurance a decrease of 4.8 percentage 
points was recorded. 

The net claims structure in 2017 is similar to the gross structure since the majority of net 
claims amounting to 62.9 percent is related to the property reinsurance and 23.9 percent to 
the motor reinsurance. 

In 2017, the net claims incurred (gross claims incurred, reduced by the reinsured share and 
adjusted by a change in the gross claims provisions corrected for the reinsurers’ share in these 
provisions) amounted to EUR 46,803,390 and are at the same level as in 2016.

7.3 Gross loss ratio

The gross loss ratio representing a ratio of the gross claims paid to the gross premiums writ-
ten, decreased by 0.3 percentage point in 2017, mainly due to the substantial premium growth 
in 2017.

Gross loss ratio 

Other Liability 
Reinsurance 4.3%

Other Reinsurance 2.1%

Motor Reinsurance 
20.5%

Marine and 
Aviation 
Reinsurance 
8.8%
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Reinsurance 4.6%
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23.9%
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Reinsurance 
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7.4 Commission income and expenses

The commission income in 2017 amounted to EUR 10,825,690 and compared to the previous 
year it increased by EUR 1,700,000 or by 18.7 percent. The commission expenses amounting to 
EUR 29,433,951 increased by 13.4 percent in 2017, so that the net commission expenses in 2017 
amounted to EUR 18,608,261.

7.5 Financial income and expenses

The financial investment position on 31 December 2017 stood at EUR 175,145,691 and in com-
parison with the previous year it increased by EUR 5,026,276 which equals 3.0 percent.

Structure of financial investments
 

in EUR

31. 12. 2017
STRUCTURE 

2017
31. 12. 2016

STRUCTURE 
2016

INDEX

Shares and other variable yield 
securities

1,281,511 1% 1,173,181 1% 109.2

Debt  and other fixed yield 
securities

167,321,631 96% 154,063,393 91% 108.6

Shares in investment funds 0 0% 7,392,486 4% 0.0

Bank deposits 864,936 0% 2,308,548 1% 37.5

Financial derivatives 0 0% 0 0% /

Other financial investments 10,000 0% 10,000 0% 100.0

Reinsurers' investments from 
reinsurance contracts

5,667,613 3% 5,171,806 3% 109.6

TOTAL FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 175,145,691 100% 170,119,415 100% 103.0

The Company reported the following investment structure by maturity as of 31 December 
2017:
•	 long-term	financial	investments	amounting	to	EUR	163,280,877;
•	 short-term	financial	investments	amounting	to	EUR	864,936;
•	 financial	investments	in	the	Triglav	Group	companies	amounting	to	EUR	5,332,265;
•	 retained	premiums	at	Cedants,	earned	from	the	reinsurance	contracts	amounting	to	
 EUR 5,667,613.

The largest part of investments is represented by the debt securities, followed by the financial 
investments from the reinsurance contract. The bank deposits and other financial invest-
ments represent the lowest amount in the investment structure. 

The structure of individual types of investments has slightly changed in comparison with the 
previous year. On 31 December 2017, the Company did not have any investments in the invest-
ment funds. The debt securities increased by 5.0 percentage points to the total of 95.5 per-
cent; and the financial investments from the reinsurance contracts by 0.2 percentage point. A 
significant decrease of 0.9 percentage point was recorded in the bank deposits. The volume 
of shares, of other financial investments and of the financial derivatives remained in 2017 at 
the same level as in 2016. 



TRIGLAV RE / Business Report 2017 67

The book value return of the entire investment portfolio amounted to 2.1 percent in 2017, 
while in 2016 to 3.6 percent.

Investment income, investment expenses and return on investments 

 

The financial income in 2017 amounted to EUR 6,902,092, while the financial expenses to EUR 
3,294,380. The total return amounted to EUR 3,607,712 which is by 38.3 percent less than in 
the previous year.

The Company’s investment policy in 2017 followed the principles of security, liquidity, diver-
sification and surplus return on the investments. 

7.6 Operating expenses

Compared to the previous year, the gross operating expenses increased by 1.8 percent in 2017; 
while the depreciation costs decreased by 4.3 percent and the labor costs by 1.6 percent. The 
expenses for the services performed by the physical persons increased by 90.7 percent in 2017 
and the other operating expenses by 11.0 percent. The asset management expenses for 2017 
amounted to EUR 228,602 (in 2016 to EUR 254,690) and are recorded in the income statement 
under the item financial expenditure.

Breakdown of operating expenses
 

 in EUR

YEAR 2017 YEAR 2016 INDEX

Depreciation of operating assets 79,828 83,381 95.7

Labour costs 2,576,040 2,617,682 98.4

Costs of services provided by individuals 
not engaged in business activity, including 
contributions

46,293 24,271 190.7

Other operating expenses 856,357 771,528 111.0

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 3,558,518 3,496,862 101.8

 INVESTMENT EXPENSES      RETURN ON INVESTMENTS      NVESTMENT INCOME

0            1,000,000      2,000,000      3,000,000      4,000,000      5,000,000       6,000,000      7,000,000      8,000,000      9,000,000

in EUR

2016

2017 3,607,712

5,849,315
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7.7 Financial result indicators

Indicators of the financial results
 

YEAR 2017 YEAR 2016

Retention rate 60.1% 59.2%

Share of net operating expenses to gross premium 2.9% 3.0%

Loss ratio 63.7% 67.3%

Expense ratio 30.1% 29.4%

Combined ratio 93.8% 96.7%



FINANCIAL 
POSITION
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On 31 December 2017, the Company’s balance sheet total amounted to EUR 280,327,696 and it 
increased by 5.3 percent compared to 31 December 2016. 

8.1 Financial assets

On 31 December 2017, the financial assets which present a share of 82.4 percent in the total 
assets, increased by 4.9 percent compared to 31 December 2016 and the other assets repre-
senting  a share of 0.2 percent in the total assets increased by the same percent as the finan-
cial assets. The receivables that constitute a share of 17.5 percent in the total assets structure 
were increased by 6.8 percent. 

Structure of financial assets 
 

8.2 Financial liabilities

The gross insurance technical provisions, reaching as much as 58.3 percent, represent the 
largest amount of liabilities. As of 31 December 2017, the total equity of the Company amount-
ing to EUR 82,693,155 increased by 0.8 percent in comparison to 31 December 2016. A substan-
tial volume of the liabilities is represented by the other liabilities amounting to EUR 33,078,856 
or a share 11.8 percent of the total liabilities and are mainly related to the liabilities arising 
from the reinsurance operations. 

8. FINANCIAL 
POSITION

0 30,000,000 60,000,000 90,000,000 120,000,000 150,000,000 180,000,000 210,000,000 240,000,000 270,000,000 300,000,000

 INVESTMENTS (including technical provisions ceded to Reinsurers and financial investment)     RECEIVABLES      OTHER

in EUR

31 . 12. 2016

31. 12. 2017 535,118

510,269

230,851,129

220,008,590

48,941,449

45,816,755
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Structure of liabilities 

 

8.3 Financial position indicators

Financial position indicators 

YEAR 2017 YEAR 2016

Share of capital in total liabilities 29.5% 30.8%

Return on equity 7.7% 8.3%

Share of gross technical provisions in total liabilities 58.3% 56.8%

Share of financial assets in total assets 62.5% 63.9%

0 30,000,000 60,000,000 90,000,000 120,000,000 150,000,000 180,000,000 210,000,000 240,000,000   270,000,000  300,000,000

 EQUITY      GROSS TECHNICAL PROVISIONS      OTHER LIABILITIES       OTHER

in EUR

31 . 12. 2016

31. 12. 2017 1,093,223

32,066,228

33,078,85682,693,155

82,009,270

163,462,462

151,173,519 1,086,597
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9.1 Significant events after the end of accounting period

There were no significant events that could affect the Company’s position after the end of the 
accounting period.

9.2 Transparency of financial relations

According to the Act on transparency of financial relations and the separate accounts for 
various activities, the Company falls in the scope of the public undertakings and public credit 
institutions.

In 2017, the Company did not receive any public funds listed in the said Act.

9. SIGNIFICANT 
EVENTS AFTER 
THE END OF
ACCOUNTING
PERIOD AND 
TRANSPARENCY 
OF FINANCIAL
RELATIONS
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The financial statements of Triglav Re, d.d. are prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, and the explanatory 
notes adopted by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and 
were adopted also by the European Union. The financial statements are also in line with the 
provisions of the Companies Act.

At the balance sheet date, taking into account the standards-approving process in the Euro-
pean Union, there is no difference in the Company’s accounting policy between the IFRS ap-
plied by the Company and IFRS adopted by the European Union.

The accounting policy used in the preparation of the Company’s financial statements is the 
same as in the preparation of the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2016. 
The only exception is represented by the newly adopted or amended standards and interpre-
tations which are effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. All the 
accounting policies and explanatory notes of Triglav Re, d.d. are set out in the Annual Report, 
Chapter 15.

The Annual Report of Triglav Re, d.d. for 2017 accompanied by the Independent Auditor’s Re-
port is available on the Company’s website http://www.triglavre.si/arhiv-dokumentov in the 
Slovene language.

The Summary of the Annual Report for 2017 contains the selected information from the An-
nual Report of Triglav Re, d.d. for 2017.

10. FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
AND 
EXPLANATORY 
NOTES
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10.1 Statement of financial position
 

in EUR

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

ASSETS 280,327,696 266,335,614

Intangible assets 80,040 92,137

Property, plant & equipment 134,095 202,894

Financial investments in Group's companies 5,332,265 4,415,675

Financial investments in other companies 169,813,426 165,703,740

- loans and deposits 6,542,549 7,490,354

- available for sale 163,270,877 158,213,386

- recognized at fair value 0 0

Technical provisions ceded to Reinsurers 55,705,438 49,889,176

Receivables 48,941,449 45,816,755

- receivables from reinsurance and co-insurance operations 48,932,037 45,261,758

- current tax receivables 0 550,095

- other receivables 9,412 4,902

Other assets 74,522 67,461

Cash and cash equivalents 246,461 147,777

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 280,327,696 266,335,614

Equity 82,693,155 82,009,270

- share capital 4,950,000 4,950,000

- share premium 1,146,704 1,146,704

- reserves from profit 1,139,723 1,139,723

- revaluation surplus 6,384,370 7,491,076

- retained earnings 62,725,218 60,772,412

- net profit for the year 6,347,139 6,509,356

Insurance technical provisions 163,462,462 151,173,519

- unearned premiums 24,723,943 23,725,953

- provisions for outstanding claims 138,331,811 127,012,115

- other insurance technical provisions 406,709 435,451

Other provisions 193,846 186,152

Deferred tax liabilies 1,137,776 1,379,049

Operating liabilities 31,941,079 30,687,180

- liabilities from reinsurance and co-insurance operations 31,824,600 30,687,180

- current tax liabilities 116,479 0

Other liabilities 899,377 900,445

The explanatory notes to the financial statements are a part of the financial statements and 
must be read in conjunction with them.
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10.2  Income statement
 

in EUR

 YEAR 2017  YEAR 2016 

NET PREMIUMS EARNED 73,424,783 69,631,106 

- gross reinsurance premiums written 123,713,912 117,417,689 

- premiums written ceded for retrocession -49,413,862 -47,958,735 

- change in unearned premiums -875,267 172,152 

TOTAL INCOME FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS 6,902,092 8,113,434 

- income from financial assets in related companies 153,541 126,817 

- income from financial assets in other companies 6,748,551 7,986,617 

OTHER REINSURANCE INCOME 10,825,690 9,122,036 

- commission income 10,825,690 9,122,036 

OTHER INCOME 32,445 254 

NET CLAIMS INCURRED -46,803,390 -46,730,943 

- gross claims paid -56,764,142 -54,273,094 

- retrocessionaires' share of claims paid 15,586,908 13,263,318 

- change in provisions for outstanding claims -5,626,157 -5,721,167 

CHANGE IN OTHER INSURANCE TECHNICAL PROVISIONS 66,363 -140,269 

 CHANGE IN LIABILITIES FROM FINANCIAL CONTRACTS 0 0 

EXPENSES FOR BONUSES AND REBATES -37,622 -180,531 

OPERATING EXPENSES -3,329,916 -3,242,172 

- insurance acquisition costs -1,298,683 -1,344,214 

- other operating expenses -2,031,233 -1,897,958 

EXPENSES FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES -3,294,381 -2,264,120 

- Expenses from financial assests in related companies -300,182 -290,231 

- Expenses from financial assests in other companies -2,994,199 -1,973,888 

- impairment of financial assets other than recognized 
   at fair value  through profit or loss

0 -1,111 

- losses on disposal of investments -166,214 -197,022 

- expenses from chainge in fair value 0 0 

- other financial expenses -2,827,985 -1,775,755 

OTHER REINSURANCE EXPENSES -29,586,594 -26,151,401 

- commission expenses -29,433,951 -25,961,312 

- other expenses -152,643 -190,089 

OTHER EXPENSES -372,370 -370,234 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7,827,101 7,787,163 

TAX EXPENSES -1,479,962 -1,277,807 

NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 6,347,139 6,509,356 

Basic net earnings per share 423 Euros/share  434 Euros/share 

Diluted net earnings per share 423 Euros/share  434 Euros/share 

The explanatory notes to the financial statements are a part of the financial statements and 
must be  read in conjunction with them.
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10.3  Statement of comprehensive income

in EUR

YEAR 2017 YEAR 2016

Net profit for the year after tax 6,347,139 6,509,356 

Other comprehensive income after tax  -1,106,705 -57,301 

a) Items which will not be transferred to profit or loss 
     in future periods

0 0 

b) Items which could be transferred to profit or loss in 
     future periods

-1,106,705 -57,301 

Net gains/losses on revaluation of available-for-sale 
financial assets

-1,366,303 153,812 

- gains/losses recognized in revaluation surplus 1,004,230 2,487,075 

- transfer of gains/losses from revaluation surplus to 
   profit or loss

-2,370,533 -2,333,262 

Tax on other comprehensive income 259,598 -211,113 

Comprehensive income for the year after tax 5,240,434 6,452,055 

Basic net earnings per share  423 Euros/share  434 Euros/share 

Diluted net earnings per share  423 Euros/share  434 Euros/share 

The explanatory notes to the financial statements are a part of the financial statements and 
must be  read in conjunction with them.



10.4 Cash flow statement

in EUR
YEAR 2017 YEAR 2016

OPERATING CASH FLOW
Income statement items 9,003,454 5,424,447
Net written premium for the period 74,300,050 69,458,954
Investment income (excluding financial income) arising from: 874,417 1,193,963
 - insurance technical provisions 874,417 1,193,963
 - other sources 0 0
Other operating income (excluding revaluation and provisions reductions) and financial income 3,218 254
Net claims paid -41,177,234 -41,009,776
Bonuses and rebates paid 0
Net operating expenses excluding amortization costs and accrued insurance acquisition -22,435,386 -20,562,474
Investment expenses (excluding amortization costs and financial expenses) financed from: -1,606,256 -1,629,630
 - technical sources -1,586,496 -1,613,584
 - other sources -19,760 -16,046
Other operating expenses excluding amortization costs (except for revaluation and without -160,292 -163,779
Income tax and other taxes excluded from operating expenses -795,063 -1,863,065
Changes in net current assets - operating balance sheet items -2,560,452 -1,764,703
- movements in receivables from direct insurance operations 0
- movements in receivables from reinsurance operations -3,670,279 8,753,135
- movements in other receivables from (re)insurance operations -4,510 758
- movements in other receivables and assets 0 0
- movements in deferred tax assets 0 0
- movements in inventories 0 0
- movements in debts from direct insurance operations 0 0
- movements in debts from reinsurance operations 1,137,421 -9,823,473
- movements in other operating debts -23,084 -695,123
- movements in other liabilities (excluding unearned premiums) 0
- movements in deferred tax liabilities 0 0
Total cash flow from operating activities 6,443,002 3,659,744
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash inflows from investing activities 79,385,491 98,547,150
Cash inflows from interest from investing activities: 3,925,790 4,334,959
 - investments financed by insurance technical provisions 3,812,561 4,172,498
 - other investments 113,229 162,461
Cash inflows from dividends received and profit sharing, arising from: 73,084 48,213
 - investments financed by insurance technical provisions 50,259 45,736
 - other investments 22,825 2,477
Cash inflows from the disposal of intangible assets financed by: 0 0
 - insurance technical provisions 0 0
 - other sources 0 0
Cash inflows from the disposal of property, plant and equipment financed by: 26,412 0
 - insurance technical provisions 0
 - other sources 26,412 0
Cash inflows from the disposal of non-current investments financed by: 47,004,228 58,323,817
 - insurance technical provisions 44,979,958 58,323,817
 - other sources 2,024,270 0
Cash inflows from the disposal of current investments financed by: 28,355,977 35,840,161
 - insurance technical provisions 27,888,679 35,549,247
 - other sources 467,298 290,914
Cash inflows from the disposal of investments in subsidiaries and associates financed by: 0 0
 - insurance technical provisions 0 0
 - other sources 0 0
Total cash flow from investing activities -81,173,260 -102,166,337
Cash outflows for the purchase of intangible assets -7,200 -73,239
Cash outflows for the purchase of property, plant and equipment financed by:: -23,675 -35,657
 - insurance technical provisions 0 0
 - other sources -23,675 -35,657
Cash outflows for the purchase of non-current investments financed by: -52,644,586 -64,927,848
 - insurance technical provisions -50,126,445 -63,896,580
 - other sources -2,518,141 -1,031,268
Cash outflows for the purchase of current investments financed by: -27,408,173 -34,878,511
 - insurance technical provisions -26,445,067 -33,348,346
 - other sources -963,106 -1,530,165
Cash outflows for the purchase of investments in subsidiaries and associates financed by: -1,089,626 -2,251,082
 - insurance technical provisions -1,089,626 -2,251,082
 - other sources 0 0
Total cash flow from investing activities -1,787,769 -3,619,187
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash inflows from financing activities 0 0
Cash inflows from paid-in capital 0 0
Cash outflows from financing activities -4,556,549 0
Cash outflows from dividends paid and profit sharing -4,556,549 0
Total cash flow from financing activities -4,556,549 0
Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents 246,461 147,777
x) Net cash flow for the period 98,684 40,557
y) Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents 147,777 107,220
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